
 

 
1 

 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 
CABINET MEMBER FOR TRANSPORT 
 
THURSDAY, 12 OCTOBER 2023 AT 4.00 PM 
 
COUNCIL CHAMBER - THE GUILDHALL, PORTSMOUTH 
 
Telephone enquiries to Allison Harper, Local Democracy Officer - Tel: 023 9268 8014 
Email: democratic@portsmouthcc.gov.uk 
 
If any member of the public wishing to attend the meeting has access requirements, please 
notify the contact named above. 
 
Membership 
 
Councillor Gerald Vernon-Jackson CBE (Cabinet Member)  
 
Councillor Simon Bosher 
Councillor Graham Heaney 
 

Councillor Brian Madgwick 
 

 
(NB This agenda should be retained for future reference with the minutes of this meeting). 
 
Please note that the agenda, minutes and non-exempt reports are available to view online on 
the Portsmouth City Council website: www.portsmouth.gov.uk  
 
Deputations by members of the public may be made on any item where a decision is 
going to be taken. The request should be made in writing to the contact officer (above) by 
12 noon of the working day before the meeting and must include the purpose of the 
deputation (for example, for or against the recommendations). Email requests are 
accepted. 
 

A G E N D A 
  
  Welcome and Introductions   
 1   Apologies  

  
 2   Declarations of Interest  

  
 3   School Streets - Phase 1 - Trial to Permanent Measures (Pages 5 - 40) 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/


 
2 

 

  Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to provide an overview of the School Streets 
project to date, summarise the learnings from five trials and the future 
approach to implementing school streets in Portsmouth. 
  
To seek approval for the proposed permanent School Streets at St Jude's 
Church of England Primary School and Bramble Infant School and Nursery. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport: 
  

1.    Approves to proceed with the implementation of permanent 
School Streets at St Jude's Church of England Primary School. 
  

2.    Approves to proceed with the implementation of permanent 
School Streets at Bramble Infant School and Nursery; 
  

3.    Approves to proceed with future school streets trials under an 18-
month ETRO (Experimental Traffic Regulation Order). 

  
 4   SEHRT City Centre South - design approval (Pages 41 - 58) 

  Purpose of Report 
To seek approval of the design of the City Centre South project, which is a 
part of the South East Hampshire Rapid Transit (SEHRT) programme of 
works. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport approves the 
City Centre South scheme. 
  

 5   Parking Charges on the Seafront East of South Parade Pier (Pages 59 - 
78) 

  Purpose of Report 
The report presents the comments and objections made as a result of formal 
consultation on Traffic Regulation Orders to introduce charging on the 
seafront east of South Parade Pier for on street parking and Canoe Lake Car 
Park.  This is proposed between the start of November to the end of February 
when there is currently no charge. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport considers the 
comments submitted during the consultation and approves: 
  

1.    The introduction of charging in the on-street parking bays in 
Southsea Esplanade and Eastney Esplanade, from 1 November to 
the end of February making the charging all year long.  It is further 
recommended that the charges are the same as during the other 
months of the year and apply from 8am to 6pm as they do the rest 



 
3 

 

of the year. 
  

2.    To introduce charging in Canoe Lake Car Park from 1 November to 
the end of February making the charging all year long.  It is further 
recommended that the charges are the same as during the other 
months of the year and apply from 8am to 8pm as they do the rest 
of the year. 

  
 6   Residents Parking Programme of Consultation (Pages 79 - 92) 

  Purpose of Report 
To propose a further programme of consultation on residents parking zones. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport approves: 
  

1.    That the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation 
progresses with 3 work streams as set out in paragraphs 4.4 to 4.5 
of this report; 
  

2.    That there are rolling programmes around these areas so that a 
residents parking scheme is agreed in an area, areas around it are 
then consulted; 
  

3.    That the costs of external consultancy are met from the parking 
reserve;  
  

4.    That staffing in the parking permit and suspensions teams are 
kept under review in anticipation of the increasing number of 
zones. 
   

 7   Speed and Casualty Reduction Measures 2023/24 (Pages 93 - 106) 

  Purpose of Report 
The purpose of the report is to confirm the locations for infrastructure 
improvement as part of the Casualty and Speed Reduction Local Transport 
Plan 4 (LTP4) 2023/24 capital implementation programme. 
  
RECOMMENDATIONS 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport approves the 
proposed spend from the Casualty & Speed Reduction Measures budget 
of £250,000 on the Lower Farlington Road/Havant Road junction scheme. 

 
 

  

 
Members of the public are permitted to use both audio visual recording devices and 
social media during this meeting, on the understanding that it neither disrupts the 
meeting nor records those stating explicitly that they do not wish to be recorded. 
Guidance on the use of devices at meetings open to the public is available on the 
Council's website and posters on the wall of the meeting's venue. 



 
4 

 

 
Whilst every effort will be made to webcast this meeting, should technical or other 
difficulties occur, the meeting will continue without being webcast via the Council's 
website. 
 
This meeting is webcast (videoed), viewable via the Council's livestream account at 
https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785 

 

https://livestream.com/accounts/14063785


 
 
 
 
 
 

1 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
  

Title of meeting: 
 

Transport Cabinet Decision Meeting 

Date of meeting: 
 

12 October 2023 

Subject: 
 

School Streets - Phase 1 - Trial to Permanent Measures 

Report by: 
 
Report Author: 
 

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director of Regeneration  
 
Natalia Luszczyk, Active Travel Officer 

Wards affected: 
 

St Thomas, Central Southsea 
 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 

 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the School Streets project to 

date, summarise the learnings from five trials and the future approach to 
implementing school streets in Portsmouth. 
 

1.2 To seek approval for the proposed permanent School Streets at St Jude's Church of 
England Primary School and Bramble Infant School and Nursery. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 

 
It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport:  
 

2.1 Approves to proceed with the implementation of permanent School Streets at 
St Jude's Church of England Primary School; 
 

2.2 Approves to proceed with the implementation of permanent School Streets at 
Bramble Infant School and Nursery;  
 

2.3 Approves to proceed with future school streets trials under an 18 month 
ETRO (Experimental Traffic Regulation Order).  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 
 
 
 
 
 

2 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3. Background 
 

3.1 School Streets 
 

3.1.1 A School Street is a road outside a school that has a restriction on vehicle access at 
school drop-off and pick-up times. The restriction applies to school and through 
traffic, at specified times, on weekdays during term time. School Streets are usually 
piloted for 6 to 18 months using temporary or experimental traffic regulation orders 
(ETRO) and can be enforced through the presence of a physical barrier, signs, 
enforcement cameras or a combination of these.  

 
3.1.2 Each site is different and requires careful consideration to meet the environmental 

needs and the project objectives. Careful monitoring is needed before, during and 
after the trial, to evaluate the impact of the School Street both on the road that is 
closed, and on the wider area. Engagement with local Councillors, residents, 
businesses, and the whole school community is recommended, to maximise 
behaviour change and minimise potential opposition to the changes.  

 
3.1.3 School Streets have been shown to have a wide range of benefits to both the 

school, as well as to the wider community. These include boosting physical and 
mental health, improved safety, reduced congestion, improved air quality, better 
concentration in class and a more welcoming and social space around the school 
gates.  

 
 

3.2 School Streets in Portsmouth until now 
 

3.2.1 The popularity of School Streets increased dramatically during Covid 19 pandemic 
and in September 2021 two schools, St Jude's Church of England Primary School 
and Bramble Infant School and Nursery, took part in the Phase 1 trials in 
Portsmouth. Following that, in May 2022 St John's Cathedral Catholic Primary 
School, Meon Infant and Meon Junior took part in Phase 2 and in September 2022 
Kings Academy College Park took part in Phase 3 of School Streets. 

 
3.2.2 The schools took part for a minimum of 7 weeks trials under Temporary Traffic 

Regulation Order (TTRO) with Bramble and St John's schools prolonging their trials 
until the end of term that their trial was in. 

 
3.2.3 The trials to date have followed the 'steward model'. This requires volunteers from 

the school and local community to set up and operate the road closures using road 
signs and light physical barriers at the beginning and end of the school day. Access 
for residents, essential services and the school is maintained by the stewards.  

 
3.2.4 Using this model promotes relationship building between the school and the local 

community and allows for closer traffic monitoring. However, it relies on people's 
time and enthusiasm to manage the scheme. 

Page 6



 
 
 
 
 
 

3 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

3.2.5 Most schools could not continue their trials beyond the initial trial period due to lack 
of volunteers, sometimes needing support from council officers and Sustrans to 
complete their trial. 

 
3.2.6 Every school had a different steward make up. For example, at: 
 

• St Jude's Church of England School stewards were mainly parents and residents. 

• Bramble Infant School and Nursery, the site manager was the lead steward with 
parent support. 

• Meon Infant and Meon Junior schools had the most varied stewards made up from 
school staff, parents, residents, ward Councillors and wider community support 
including asylum seekers. 

• St John's Cathedral Catholic Primary School stewards were almost exclusively 
parents, with one ward Councillor joining halfway through the trial. Stewards at St 
John's Cathedral Catholic Primary School had minimal school involvement due to 
site manager sickness. 

• Kings Academy College Park closures were facilitated by school staff without any 
parent or resident involvement. It was mainly the Head Teacher and Deputy Head 
Teacher who were the stewards, later with some support of Council officers and 
Sustrans. No parents came forward to volunteer despite repeated calls from the 
Head Teacher. 

 
3.2.7 Free breakfast and after school clubs were offered to parents wishing to volunteer. 

This was an incentive at St Jude's and St John's Cathedral Catholic Primary 
Schools which some parents took advantage of. 

 
3.2.8 The support for permanent School Streets varied between the schools, however in 

all schools the majority of survey respondents who participated in post-trial surveys 
were in favour of the closures remaining in place1.  

 
3.2.9 In 2022/23 work was undertaken to assess the feasibility to make St Jude's and 

Bramble Infant School and Nursery permanent School Streets as both schools had 
high levels of support for permanent closures. Initial school and resident 
engagement took place at both schools in February and March 2023, again 
showing strong support for creating School Streets. A report was taken to the 
Cabinet Member for Transport in March 2023, where approval was given to create a 
School Street around St Jude's Church of England school2. 

 
3.2.10 Due to the issues with steward recruitment, the Safer Travel Team initiated a 

School Street model review. Research was undertaken to understand best practice 
from other Local Authorities, aiming to create a range of models available to use in 
future trials depending on the school and its location. The findings are attached as 
Appendix A of this report. 

 
1 School Streets and Stomp to School - Wave 3 2022 - Your City, Your Say survey research 
(portsmouth.gov.uk) 
2 FINAL St Judes School Streets permanent infrastructure report - with Legal comment.pdf 
(portsmouth.gov.uk) 

Page 7

https://yourcityyoursay.portsmouth.gov.uk/school-streets-and-stomp-to-school-wave-3-2022/
https://yourcityyoursay.portsmouth.gov.uk/school-streets-and-stomp-to-school-wave-3-2022/
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s45273/FINAL%20St%20Judes%20School%20Streets%20permanent%20infrastructure%20report%20-%20with%20Legal%20comment.pdf
https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s45273/FINAL%20St%20Judes%20School%20Streets%20permanent%20infrastructure%20report%20-%20with%20Legal%20comment.pdf


 
 
 
 
 
 

4 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
 
4. School Streets- next steps 

 
4.1 Bramble Infant School and Nursery  

 

 
 
 

4.1.1. To install a School Street to Heyward Road, restricting traffic during school drop off 
and pick up hours, term time only. This will use signage and bollards under ETRO 
(Experimental Traffic Regulation Order) valid for up to 18 months. Signs will be 
placed on both sides of Heyward Road at the point of entry from Fawcett Road. 
 

4.1.2 To install telescopic bollards on one side of Heyward Road by the junction with 
Fawcett Road to create partial closure, bollards to act as visible barrier to prevent 
accidental access by motorised vehicles, and at the same time allow for resident 
and exemptions entry and exit. It has been agreed with the school that these 
bollards will be managed by the school. 
 

4.1.3 To install advance warning signs on north and south side of Fawcett Road prior turn 
into Heyward Road. School Street visuals are attached as Appendix C. 
 

4.1.4 To install loading bay on Fawcett Road under TRO (Traffic Regulation Order) in 
front of 151 Halls and Laly's Pharmacy. 
 
 

 

Page 8



 
 
 
 
 
 

5 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

4.2 St Jude's Church of England Primary School 
 

 
 

4.2.2 To install a School Street zone using signage only under ETRO (Experimental 
Traffic Regulation Order) valid for up to 18 months. Signs to be placed on one side 
of Pembroke Close, St Nicholas Street and Penny Street at the point of entry from 
Pembroke Road. 
 

4.2.3 To install advance warning signs on east side of Pembroke Road prior right turn into 
Pembroke Close and on west side of Pembroke Road prior left turn to Penny Street. 
School Street visuals are attached as Appendix D. 
 
 

4.3 Future school streets 
 

4.3.2 Using the steward model has proven to be unsustainable for schools to manage the 

trials. This has especially been apparent for the longer Portsmouth trials.  

 

4.3.3 Research undertaken by the Safer Travel Team established that other Local 

Transport Authorities (LTAs) have experienced the same issues with steward 

recruitment and retention. As a result, other LTAs have started introducing more 

infrastructure led models with ad hoc steward support. For example, 5 schools 

streets trials in Norfolk finished early or have been put on hold due to lack of 

volunteers, Oxford County Council decided that trials will be carried out using 

Page 9



 
 
 
 
 
 

6 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

volunteer model, however they opted for use of ANPR cameras for permanent 

School Streets. 

 

4.3.4 Future school streets trials in Portsmouth will be carried for a minimum 18 months 

under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order (ETRO), as long-term trials have 

been proven to be far more effective in influencing travel behaviour change and 

allowing for changes, ongoing surveying and monitoring. 

 

 

5 Permits 
 

5.1 As part of the permanent school streets and future trials, permits allowing vehicles to 
enter the school street zone would be available to residents of premises located 
within the school street zone and their visitors. Permits will be site specific, vehicle 
specific and time bound. 

 
5.2 Some vehicles belonging to identified groups or situations are automatically allowed 

to drive in school street zone without first obtaining a permit: blue badge holders, 
emergency services, healthcare workers, utility companies (essential maintenance), 
refuse collectors, postal services providers and delivery of goods, licensed hire 
vehicles serving properties within restricted area and home to school transport. 

 
5.3 Schools are allowed to grant exception permit to access school street zone to parents 

and carers (based on individual need) as well as teachers if entry point to teacher 
parking is within school street. 

 
5.4 Vehicles accessing school street zone would be monitored ad hoc and parents 

breaking the rules reported to the head teacher. 
 

5.5 Police would be able to issue tickets for drivers entering school street without valid 
permit. 

 
 
6 Reasons for recommendations 
 
6.1 Portsmouth City Council has ambition to create more child friendly streets, to 

increase pupil physical activity which translates directly into pupils' wellbeing. 

Portsmouth City Council also invests in creating Safer Routes to School and School 

Streets to make last stretch of their journey to the school gate safer. Over time School 

Streets benefit the whole area by creating a quieter area around the school, 

improving air quality by dispersing traffic. Parents have reported enjoying spending 

time walking with their children instead of rushing and being stuck in traffic. 

 

6.2 To ensure the continuing success of school streets, the relationship between the 

council and the school is key. A school street has tangible benefits but is also a 

commitment for both council and school resources. The Safer Travel team with 

Page 10



 
 
 
 
 
 

7 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

support from Sustrans will continue to support schools as they implement and 

manage their school street. 

 

6.3 Future school street trials will be carried for longer periods of time than previous trials 

to influence long term behaviour change. 

 
6.4 A combination of signs, bollards, cones, planters and stewards (staffed and 

volunteered) will be considered, a model will be chosen and adapted to meet the 

needs of the school and the area. 

 
6.5 The area around the school to be assessed more holistically for longer term road 

safety improvements, opportunities for joint work with other projects and availability of 

other funding streams. 

 
 
7 Integrated impact assessment 

 
7.1 An IIA has been undertaken, and is attached as Appendix B 

 
 

8 Legal implications 
 

8.1 It is the duty of a local authority to manage its road network with a view to achieving, 
so far as may be reasonably practicable having regard to its other obligations, 
policies and objectives, the following objectives: 

 
a) securing the expeditious movement of traffic on the authority’s road 

network; and  
b) facilitating the expeditious movement of traffic on road networks for 

which another authority is the traffic authority.  
 

8.2 Local authorities have a duty to take account of the needs of all road users, take 
action to minimise, prevent or deal with congestion problems, and consider the 
implications of decisions for both their network and those of others. 

 
8.3 Experimental traffic orders (ETRO's) can be made for the same reasons as standard 

traffic regulation orders, including avoiding danger to persons or other traffic using 
the road or for preventing the likelihood of such danger arising or facilitating the 
passage on the road of traffic. ETROs may last for up to a maximum of 18 months. 

 
8.4 An order may specifically include provisions prohibiting, restricting or regulating the 

use of a road or any part of the width of a road by any specified class of traffic.   
 
8.5 There is no statutory requirement to consult before making an ETRO but notice of the 

order must be given in the prescribed form. Specified documents must also be placed 

Page 11



 
 
 
 
 
 

8 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

on deposit. The order cannot come into force until the expiry of 7 days from the date 
that notice was given.  

 
8.6 If it is intended to make the ETRO permanent after the trial period has passed the 

notice should contain the prescribed statement set out in Schedule 5 of the Local 
Authorities Traffic Orders Procedure Regulations 1996. A statement of the reasons 
for making the order will also have to be placed on deposit. 

 
8.7 Any person or body may object to the ETRO being made permanent by no later than 

6 months from the order coming into force.  
 
8.8 The procedural provisions for giving permanent effect to an experimental order is set 

out in regulations 23 and schedule 5 of The Local Authorities' Traffic Orders 
(Procedure) (England and Wales) Regulations 1996   

 
8.9 Regulation 23 provides that an experimental order can be made permanent providing 

the following requirements are adhered to:  
 
8.9.2 The following statements were included in the notice of making the experimental 

order: 

• that the order making authority will be considering in due course whether the 
provisions of the experimental order should be continued in force indefinitely  

• A person may object to the experimental order continuing for an indefinite period 
within 6 months of the order beginning on the date the order came into force (or 
within 6 months beginning on date the order is varied or modified)  

• That any objections must be in writing, state the grounds on which it is made and 
be sent to an address specified in the notice] 

 
8.9.3 The following documents were deposited and kept available for inspection beginning 

from the date on which the advertisement of the experimental order is first published 
and ending on the date the order ceases to have effect:  

  
a. a copy of the relevant notice of proposals and, if the order has been made, of 

the relevant notice of making;  
b. a copy of the order as proposed to be made or as made (as the case may be);  
c. a map which clearly shows the location and effect of the order as proposed to 

be made or as made (as the case may be) and, where appropriate, alternative 
routes for diverted traffic;  

d. a statement setting out the reasons why the authority proposed to make the 
order including, in the case of an experimental order, the reasons for 
proceeding by way of experiment and a statement as to whether the authority 
intends to consider making an order having the same effect which is not an 
experimental order;  

e. if the order varies, revokes, applies or suspends another order, a copy of that 
other order;  

f. if the order has been made after the holding of a public inquiry, a copy of the 
report and recommendations (if any) of the inspector; and  

Page 12



 
 
 
 
 
 

9 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

g. where the experimental order has been modified in in accordance with section 
10(2) RTRA a statement of the effect of each such modification 

 
8.10 Where the above has been satisfied regulations 6 (consultation), 7 (notice of 

proposals) and 8 (objections) do not apply.   
 
 
9 Director of Finance's comments 
 
9.1 The cost of the existing trials and any future trials will be funded through the 

Emergency Active Travel Fund awarded by the Department of Transport. 
 

9.2 The cost of funding the installation of permanent School Streets will be met from an 
allocation in the Local Transport Plan 4, approved by the City Council in February 
2023. 

 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
Appendices:  
Appendix A   School Streets options report 
Appendix B  Integrated Impact Assessment for St Jude's Church of England and 

Bramble Infant School and Nursery  
Appendix C   School Streets, visual proposal for Bramble Infant and Nursery 
Appendix D  School Streets, visual proposal for St Jude's Church of England 

Primary School 
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 

1 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

School Streets options 
 
 
This supplementary information has been collated to show school street options available 
for the future trials and permanent school streets as well as the requirements for the 
schools wishing to take part in trials. School Street model used will be chosen and adapted 
to meet the needs of the school and the area. 
 
1. School role 
 
To be considered for a school street, the applying schools would need to commit to 
working with the council on improving their pupils' active travel. Schools would need to 
monitor pupils travel on quarterly basis, conduct parent surveys to find out more about 
their school run and their needs, engage pupils in road safety lessons, walk to school 
challenges and commit to an increase in Bikeability training uptake. The council officers 
will work closely with the school to create a tailored plan with steps to take towards more 
parent and pupil engagement and to influence long term behaviour change. 
 
 
2. Types of school streets 

 
2.1 Steward model 

 
This model requires a lead steward to be the main force and point of contact. It relies on 
people being committed, consistent and wishing to be involved long term but for short 
periods of time. Schools offering breakfast club or after school club to pupils free of charge 
to parents who steward is a good incentive. 
 
The steward model requires little to set up; a combination of cones, barriers and temporary 
signs are the most common. If barriers are a fair distance from the school, transporting 
signs and barriers may be challenging for stewards. This was the case at St Jude's and St 
John's schools.  
 
Stewards can be paid and unpaid - an unpaid model is the most common, however 
stewards are paid in East Sussex and lead stewards are paid in Oxford and Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP). 
 
This model can be time consuming due to the need for ongoing recruitment, reinforcing 
messages to parents and residents. Many parents and residents are weary of stewarding 
and concerned with potential abusive language from other parents or members of the 
public. The steward training provided by Sustrans addresses these areas of concern. In 
addition, the need for 2 stewards per barrier especially during the initial weeks significantly 
impacts schools which have more than one closure point e.g. St Jude's School CoE 
Primary School. 
 
Kings Academy College Park trial ended after 7 weeks due to their inability to recruit 
volunteers. Similarly, Meon schools trial ended after 8 weeks due to issues with the 
steward rota and the school needing to fill the gaps at the last minute. 

Page 15



 
 
 
 

2 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
Other local authorities have experienced the same issues with 5 schools streets trials in 
Norfolk finishing or being put on hold due to lack of volunteers. Oxford County Council 
trials have been carried out using a volunteer model, however they opted for use of ANPR 
cameras for permanent School Streets.  
 
Below are some images and examples of the steward model, with a combination of cones, 
barriers and temporary signs.  
 

   
Bramble Infant and Nursery School St John's Cathedral Catholic Primary School 
 

   
Meon Infant and Meon Junior Robert Kett Primary, Wymondham, Norfolk 
 
 
2.2 Physical infrastructure 

 
There are various ways to create School Streets using temporary or permanent equipment 
or infrastructure, via a combination of signs, removable barriers, removable bollards, 
planters and build outs. 
 
For the reasons noted above, many Local Authorities have improved their School Streets 
using infrastructure interventions. It is important to note that until 2023 camera 
enforcement was available only in Greater London and Wales. As such, a variety of 
alternatives have been developed across England and Scotland. 
 
It should be noted that camera enforcement is not always used by local authorities who 
are able to use them, for example Westminster City Council has both ANPR and non-
ANPR school streets in operation. In the long term it is anticipated that ANPR camera 

Page 16



 
 
 
 

3 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

enforcement will become more common, and Oxford County Council has already taken 
steps towards this.   
 
2.2.1 Signs only 

 
Signage installed at each entry point of the timed road closure. Considerable engagement 
with the school and local community ahead of the launch is crucial, with reliance on 
community buy-in and self policing, achieves on average 80% compliance, no enforcemnt 
unless police or parking enforcement officers are present. 
 
Some London councils commenced their School Streets without camera enforcement and 
upgrade to ANPR if compliance is too low. 
 
Newcastle was the first local authority to trial School Streets with no stewards or barriers 
from the outset. Instead, they use a signs only approach with cameras which monitor, but 
do not enforce traffic. The pilot school benefitted from over 140 hours of Sustrans-led 
engagement which included assemblies, workshops, Sustrans Big Street Survey, cycling 
lessons in and out of school times, pop-ups, Councillor Walkabouts, leaflets and 
Commonplace online mapping tool. The scheme saw a reduction of 51% vehicle 
movements in the School Street zone, 41% increase in people cycling in the zone and 5% 
increase in pedestrians. The scheme also has strong support from the Police, who 
reported that it has made the area feel safer. 
 
Below are some images and examples of the signs only model.  
 

   
Ark Atwood Academy Primary School,  Newcastle 
Westminster 

 
 

2.2.2 Bollards 
 

Removable bollards can be used in addition to signs to create a full or partial closure. 
Depending on the area foldable or telescopic bollards are used. Half closure allows 
residents and exemptions to access; however, it acts as a visible barrier preventing 
accidental access. Bollards can also be used to allow 'access only' but prevent through 
traffic. Examples are outlined below.  

Page 17



 
 
 
 

4 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

   
Whipton Barton Infant and Nursery School, Devon-School Street in operation and bollards at 
other times 
 

  
St John's Primary and Nursery School, Southampton 
 
 
2.2.3 Signs and planters 

 
Many local authorities use planters to narrow the road to make a School Street more 
visible. Planters bring additional greenery to the street and allow pupils, residents, and 
local groups to get involved in maintaining them. Planters mostly have School Street signs 
built in, but this is not mandatory. Additional space on the planter allows installation of 
other signs and indicates that the road is open to non-motorised vehicles. 
 
Some local authorities use foldable signs, however officers report that the requirement of 
folding/unfolding at the start and end of term can be an issue for schools and the council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 18



 
 
 
 

5 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

   
Worcester Primary School, Enfield-  Stansted Primary and Nursery School, Nottingham-
planters with foldable signs  free standing planters 
 

 
Planter with LTN sign Credit: Living Streets 
 
 
2.2.4 Use of multiple options 
 
Many schools use a combination of options available which emphasises the School Street 
being in operation and ensures compliance. In many cases they include steward operating 
retractable barriers as outlined in the examples below.  
 

   
Chase Side Primary School, Enfield Abbeyfield Primary Academy, Sheffield 
 

Page 19



 
 
 
 

6 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
2.2.5 Temporary barriers 

 
At times barriers are used to restrict the traffic, in most cases they are light and easily 
removable barriers, often used as a temporary measure during shorter trials or before 
introducing other options.  
 

   
St Luke's Primary School, Brighton Nether Edge Primary School, Sheffield 
 
 
2.2.6 Gates/ swing gates 

 
In Brighton two School Streets were installed using a permanent swing gate. Barriers and 
signage are moved into place, with no stewards in place to enforce closure. This model 
may be suitable for low traffic roads with no need for resident or exempt persons access. It 
also requires wide roads or pavements so that the barrier does not block the footway or 
carriageway at other times. The barriers are used widely in cities in France and Belgium. 
 

   
Brunswick Primary School, Brighton Montpelier, France 
 
 
2.2.7 Camera enforcement (ANPR) 

 
Most School Streets in London use camera enforcement; sometimes enforcement comes 
in later to improve compliance. It is a considerably more expensive option than other 
School Streets models, however the fines can often cover some or all of the ongoing cost. 

Page 20



 
 
 
 

7 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

With powers given to Local Authorities in England, it is anticipated that there will be more 
camera enforced School Streets in place over the next few years. Oxford County Council 
has already applied for these powers, as they feel that the camera enforcement is more 
suitable for permanent School Streets than steward model used for trials. 
 

   
Acland Burghley School, Camden, London Hanover Primary School, Islington, London 
 
 
2.3 Additional options 

 
2.3.1 Highlighting children presence 

 
There are a variety of options to highlight children presence in the area. These which are 
used to raise driver awareness, slow the traffic, direct children towards preferred routes 
and make the area nice place to be in. Pencil bollards especially are an attractive and 
inexpensive addition for making a School Zone stand out.  
 

 
Francis Street School, Dublin 
 
The changes made by Valentine Primary School in Sholing, Southampton over last few 
years is a great example of improvements to make junction by the school safer and more 
attractive. These are outlined in the images below.  

Page 21



 
 
 
 

8 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

    
Starting point in 2017 Continuous pavement in 2019 
 

 
Further safety measures and area improvements in 2021 
 
 
2.3.2 Thermoplastics 

 
Colourful pavements, crossings and junctions can make an area to stand out more. In the 
UK they are mostly used at pedestrian crossings or pedestrianised areas, but in the USA 
also to mark intersections. In Brussels some of the school streets are painted with red 
squares making them to stand out. 
 

   
Walthworth Healthy Streets, Southwark, Duisburg Way, Portsmouth 
London - by a children's play area 
 

Page 22



 
 
 
 

9 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

     
Durham, North Carolina, USA - School Street, Brussels, Belgium 
intersection by the school 
 
 
2.3.3 Placemaking 

 
Placemaking around schools can make the area safer and more attractive, which will help 
to encourage behaviour change and modal shift. Enhancements can include: continuous 
footways, new or upgraded crossings, traffic calming, resurfacing, cycle lanes, seating for 
parents, shelter for waiting parents, light-touch play (hopscotch), art, bike / scooter 
storage, planting, hanging baskets, trees and rain gardens (SUDS). 
 
In Brussels, the city reviewed a whole area which has 6 schools and 3 nurseries. They 
plan to make infrastructure changes to the whole quarter - the 'Schools Quarter'; to 
improve child safety and air quality by enabling and encouraging more active travel. 
 

   
Brunswick Primary School, Brighton- Haverstock School, Chalk Farm, London-  
traffic filtering  continuous pavement 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



      

Bramble School

All images used are for illustrative purposes only. The height of the signage may not 
reflect the actual height. The size and position of signs and bollards is approximate.

Signs for School Streets/Pedestrian and cycle zone are placed either side of the entrance to 
Heyward Road with new bollards on the north side.

No vehicular access sign visible to oncoming traffic placed before the turn into Heyward Road.

Fawcett Road (North-South) Fawcett Road (South-North)

Heyward Road 

74.910 - School Streets design boards - St Judes and Bramble.indd   474.910 - School Streets design boards - St Judes and Bramble.indd   4 13/07/2023   13:31:5413/07/2023   13:31:54

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



      

St Jude’s School

All images used are for illustrative purposes only. The height of the signage may not reflect 
the actual height. The size and position of signs is approximate and subject to change.

School Street/Pedestrian and cycle zone sign is placed on the right-hand side of the  
entrance to Penny Street.

Penny Street

Peacock Lane

Pedestrian and cycle zone ends sign is placed on the right-hand side at the exit  
of Peacock Lane.

Page 27



      

St Jude’s School

All images used are for illustrative purposes only. The height of the signage may not reflect 
the actual height. The size and position of signs is approximate and subject to change.

School Street/Pedestrian and cycle zone sign is placed on the right-hand side of the  
entrance to St Nicholas Street.

School Street/Pedestrian and cycle zone sign is placed on the right-hand side of the  
entrance to Pembroke Close.

Pembroke Close

St Nicholas Street 

Page 28



      

St Jude’s School

All images used are for illustrative purposes only. The height of the signage may not reflect 
the actual height. The size and position of signs is approximate and subject to change.

Advance warning sign visible to oncoming traffic before the left turn into Penny Street.

Advance warning sign visible to oncoming traffic before the right turn into Pembroke Close.

Pembroke Road,  by Pembroke Close

Pembroke Road, by Penny Street

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Impact Assessment (IIA)

The integrated impact assessment is a quick and easy screening process. It should: 

identify those policies, projects, services, functions or strategies that could impact positively or 

negatively on the following areas:

Communities and safety

Integrated impact assessment (IIA) form December 2019 

 

Equality & - DiversityThis can be found in Section A5

Environment and public  space

Regeneration and culture

www.portsmouth.gov.uk

Directorate: Regeneration

Service, function: Safer Travel

Title of policy, service, function, project or strategy (new or old) : 

St Jude's CoE Primary School- filtered Permeability - Penny Lane, St Nicholas St, Pembrook Cl. 

Bramble Infant and Nursery- filtered permeability- Heyward Road 

Type of policy, service, function, project or strategy: 

Existing

New / proposed★

Changed

What is the aim of your policy, service, function, project or strategy? 

The installation of signs and removable bollards to provide a timed restricted closure term time only, 

during school drop off and pick up times.

Page 31



Has any consultation been undertaken for this proposal? What were the outcomes of the consultations? Has 

anything changed because of the consultation? Did this inform your proposal?

Consultation has been carried out after initial 7 weeks School Streets trial by undertaking survey and focus group. Majority of 

respondents were in favour of permanent infrastructure to restrict the traffic.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A1-Crime - Will it make our city safer? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it reduce crime, disorder, ASB and the fear of crime? 

 • How will it prevent the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances?  

 • How will it protect and support young people at risk of harm?  

 • How will it discourage re-offending? 

If you want more information contact Lisa.Wills@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-spp-plan-2018-20.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

It will limit through traffic, thus reducing potential conflict between vehicles and pedestrians/ cyclists. 

How will you measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Road Safety Statistics.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A2-Housing - Will it provide good quality homes? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it increase good quality affordable housing, including social housing? 

 • How will it reduce the number of poor quality homes and accommodation? 

 • How will it produce well-insulated and sustainable buildings? 

 • How will it provide a mix of housing for different groups and needs? 

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/psh-providing-affordable-housing-in-portsmouth-april-19.

pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

Page 32



How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

n/a

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A3-Health - Will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it improve physical and mental health? 

 • How will it improve quality of life? 

 • How will it encourage healthy lifestyle choices? 

 • How will it create healthy places? (Including workplaces) 

If you want more information contact Dominique.Letouze@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cons-114.86-health-and-wellbeing-strategy-proof-2.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

It will encourage active travel at these locations, by removing through traffic to majority of motor vehicles. Data shows school pupils 

who walk to school not only benefit from short physical activity but also have better attention and readiness to learn which could 

impact their attainment. Lower car use and no idling will impact on quality of air in the restricted area.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Site surveys, qualitative data from school teachers on their experiences.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A4-Income deprivation and poverty-Will it consider income 

deprivation and reduce poverty? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it support those vulnerable to falling into poverty; e.g., single working age adults and lone parent 

households?  

 • How will it consider low-income communities, households and individuals?  

 • How will it support those unable to work?  

 • How will it support those with no educational qualifications? 

Page 33



If you want more information contact Mark.Sage@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-homelessness-strategy-2018-to-2023.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/health-and-care/health/joint-strategic-needs-assessment 

 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Walking and cycling are low-cost/free modes of transport. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Site surveys.

A - Communities and safety Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

A5-Equality & diversity - Will it have any positive/negative impacts on 

the protected characteristics? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it impact on the protected characteristics-Positive or negative impact (Protected characteristics 

under the Equality Act 2010, Age, disability, race/ethnicity, Sexual orientation, gender reassignment, sex, 

religion or belief, pregnancy and maternity, marriage and civil partnership,socio-economic)  

 • What mitigation has been put in place to lessen any impacts or barriers removed? 

 • How will it help promote equality for a specific protected characteristic?  

If you want more information contact gina.perryman@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-equality-strategy-2019-22-final.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

It will allow greater access for those by foot or bicycle, and provide greater space for those using wheelchairs. 

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

Site Surveys

Page 34



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B1-Carbon emissions - Will it reduce carbon emissions? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce greenhouse gas emissions? 

 • How will it provide renewable sources of energy? 

 • How will it reduce the need for motorised vehicle travel? 

 • How will it encourage and support residents to reduce carbon emissions?  

 

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cmu-sustainability-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

It will limit motorised vehicle travel at these sites.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Site surveys.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B2-Energy use - Will it reduce energy use? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it reduce water consumption? 

 • How will it reduce electricity consumption? 

 • How will it reduce gas consumption? 

 • How will it reduce the production of waste? 

If you want more information contact Triston.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to:  

  

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

https://democracy.portsmouth.gov.uk/documents/s24685/Home%20Energy%20Appendix%201%20-%20Energy%

20and%20water%20at%20home%20-%20Strategy%202019-25.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
n/a

Page 35



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B3 - Climate change mitigation and flooding-Will it proactively 

mitigate against a changing climate and flooding? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it minimise flood risk from both coastal and surface flooding in the future? 

 • How will it protect properties and buildings from flooding? 

 • How will it make local people aware of the risk from flooding?  

 • How will it mitigate for future changes in temperature and extreme weather events?  

If you want more information contact Tristan.thorn@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-surface-water-management-plan-2019.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-flood-risk-management-plan.pdf 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
n/a

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B4-Natural environment-Will it ensure public spaces are greener, more 

sustainable and well-maintained? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it encourage biodiversity and protect habitats?  

 • How will it preserve natural sites?  

 • How will it conserve and enhance natural species? 

If you want more information contact Daniel.Young@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-solent-recreation-mitigation-strategy-dec-17.pdf 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

n/a

Page 36



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B5-Air quality - Will it improve air quality? 
 ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce motor vehicle traffic congestion? 

 • How will it reduce emissions of key pollutants? 

 • How will it discourage the idling of motor vehicles? 

 • How will it reduce reliance on private car use? 

If you want more information contact Hayley.Trower@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/env-aq-air-quality-plan-outline-business-case.pdf 

   

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

Restricting motor vehicles  access and promoting active travel will translate to lower emissions and pollutants, due to less cars in the 

area and less idling.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Site Surveys.

B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B6-Transport - Will it improve road safety and transport for the 

whole community? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it prioritise pedestrians, cyclists and public transport users over users of private vehicles? 

 • How will it allocate street space to ensure children and older people can walk and cycle safely in the area? 

 • How will it increase the proportion of journeys made using sustainable and active transport? 

 • How will it reduce the risk of traffic collisions, and near misses, with pedestrians and cyclists?   

 

If you want more information contact Pam.Turton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/travel/local-transport-plan-3 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

Removing access to non resident and other permit holders vehicles will reduce number of cars in the area hence risk of collisions and 

increase road safety. It will prioritise space for pedestrians and cyclists by providing a safer and more comfortable routes for those 

road users.

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
Site surveys.

Page 37



B - Environment and climate change Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

B7-Waste management - Will it increase recycling and reduce 

the production of waste? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it reduce household waste and consumption? 

 • How will it increase recycling? 

 • How will it reduce industrial and construction waste? 

    

If you want more information contact Steven.Russell@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://documents.hants.gov.uk/mineralsandwaste/HampshireMineralsWastePlanADOPTED.pdf 

  

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?

n/a

Page 38



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C1-Culture and heritage - Will it promote, protect and 

enhance our culture and heritage? ★

In thinking about this question: 

  

 • How will it protect areas of cultural value? 

 • How will it protect listed buildings? 

 • How will it encourage events and attractions? 

 • How will it make Portsmouth a city people want to live in?  

If you want more information contact Claire.Looney@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/pln-portsmouth-plan-post-adoption.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
n/a

C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C2-Employment and opportunities - Will it promote the 

development of a skilled workforce? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it improve qualifications and skills for local people? 

 • How will it reduce unemployment? 

 • How will it create high quality jobs? 

 • How will it improve earnings? 

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
n/a Page 39



C - Regeneration of our city Yes No

 Is your policy/proposal relevant to the following questions?

C3 - Economy - Will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, 

support sustainable growth and regeneration? ★

In thinking about this question: 

 

 • How will it encourage the development of key industries? 

 • How will it improve the local economy? 

 • How will it create valuable employment opportunities for local people?  

 • How will it promote employment and growth in the city?  

If you want more information contact Mark.Pembleton@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or go to: 

 

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/documents-external/cou-regeneration-strategy.pdf 

 

Please expand on the impact your policy/proposal will have, and how you propose to mitigate any negative 

impacts?

n/a

How are you going to measure/check the impact of your proposal?
n/a

Q8 - Who was involved in the Integrated impact assessment?

Natalia Luszczyk - Safer Travel Team

This IIA has been approved by:

Contact number:

Date:

Page 40



 

1 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

   

Title of meeting: 

 

Cabinet Member for Transport Decision Meeting  

 

Date of meeting: 

 

12 October 2023 

Subject: South East Hampshire Rapid Transit City Centre South - 

design approval  

 

Report by: 

 

Report Author: 

 

 

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director of Regeneration 

 

Barnaby Fry, Principal Project Manager   

Wards affected: 

 

Charles Dickens 

Key decision: 

 

No 

Full Council decision: No 

 

 

1. Purpose of report 

 

1.1. To seek approval of the design of the City Centre South project, which is part of the 

South East Hampshire Rapid Transit (SEHRT) programme of works. 

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1. It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport approves the City 

Centre South scheme. 

 

3. Background  

 

3.1. The Council has several obligations to improve the city's public transport provision 

and active travel network. These obligations are set out in various strategies, plans 

and initiatives such as the Portsmouth Transport Strategy1, (Local Transport Plan 4), 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan (LCWIP)2 and Clean Air Zones (CAZ)3.  

 
1 Portsmouth Transport Strategy 2021-2038 
2 74.463_LCWIP_Plan_Accessible.pdf (portsmouth.gov.uk) 
3 Home - Cleaner Air Portsmouth 

Page 41

Agenda Item 4

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/74.633-Local-Transport-Plan-2021-Final-Accessible.pdf
https://travel.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/74.463_LCWIP_Plan_Accessible.pdf
https://cleanerairportsmouth.co.uk/


 

2 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

3.2. In September 2020, £55 million from the Transforming Cities Fund (TCF) was 

awarded across the South East Hampshire area, with the City of Portsmouth 

successfully awarded just over £26 million to improve connectivity and increase 

productivity via better walking, cycling, and public transport links. 

 
3.3. The TCF is funding the South East Hampshire Rapid Transport (SEHRT) scheme, 

which seeks to improve public transport provision and journey times across the Solent 

region. SEHRT focusses on enhancing existing public transport services through new 

and improved bus priority routes making traveling by bus a more attractive option. 

This programme of improvements delivers a network of rapid transit routes to help 

get people to key employment, educational, and leisure areas. This is to be achieved 

through consistent bus journey times which will connect with rail and ferry services to 

create an integrated transport system across South East Hampshire. 

 

3.4. City Centre South, one of the nine SEHRT schemes in Portsmouth, aims to improve 

bus reliability in the area between Commercial Road and Guildhall Square.  In 

addition, the scheme aims to improve cyclist and pedestrian safety in the area. 

 
3.5. The scheme is split into two parts: 

 

• Station Road crossroads 

• Isambard Brunel Road widening and crossing  

 
Station Road 

 
3.6. The current arrangement of the roundabout has no formal control.  Two of the arms 

have courtesy crossings, on another a heavily used zebra and the last an informal 

crossing. There is no way to control their use, and as such general traffic and buses 

can experience delay.   

 

3.7. The design changes the current roundabout to a signalised crossing, including formal 

crossings on all 4 arms of the junction. 

 
Isambard Brunel Road 

 
3.8. The current bend in the road, south of Portsmouth and Southsea station, presents 

issues for all road users.  The design seeks to remove this pinch point by allowing 

two-way traffic.  To improve pedestrian safety, a signalised crossing point will also be 

included. 

 

Page 42



 

3 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

3.9. Details of the design can be found in Appendix A. 

 

Scheme benefits 

 

3.10. Both parts of this scheme offer the ability to manage pedestrian usage and prioritise 

bus movements, given that the signals can be linked. In addition, bus detectors can 

be used to further manage the movements throughout the area.  The scheme offers 

journey time savings and reliability across a major section of the city centre. This 

scheme is part of the wider improvement which will benefit bus routes from Winston 

Churchill Ave to Commercial Road.  

 

3.11. As well as benefits to buses, the scheme allows for safer crossing facilities for 

pedestrians.  The improved pedestrian environment will also contribute to better air 

quality in city centre. 

 
Landscaping  
 

3.12. The scheme originally envisaged the loss of two trees.  Consultation was made with 

both the Council's qualified Arboricultural Officer and the voluntary group of 

Portsmouth and Southsea Tree Wardens.  It was felt that the mature tree, Ailanthus 

altissima (Tree of Heaven) located to the east of the pinch point in Isambard Brunel 

Road, should be retained.  This will involve some modest re-design of part of the 

widening, which will take place this autumn.   

 

3.13. This means that only one tree will be removed, Acer platanoides (Norway Maple) to 

allow for the construction of the new loading bay.  Unfortunately, this tree (along with 

its neighbour) has recently been subject to vandalism, which means its life 

expectancy has already been significantly reduced. 

 
3.14. New landscaping is proposed along the southwest and southeast corners of the 

crossroads.  This will include planting of herbaceous species, ornamental grasses 

and shrubs.  

 
TRO status 
 

3.15. A Traffic Regulation Order (TRO) for the relocation of the loading bay from its existing 

location to an area to the south was progressed (see Appendix A for more details of 

the location).  Following a consultation period, no objections were made.  As such, 

the TRO is expected to be sealed in the next few weeks. 

 

 

Page 43



 

4 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

4. Reasons for recommendations   

 

4.1 This scheme is part of the "City Centre Project" package of works that Alun Griffiths 

Construction Ltd. has started on 11 September 2023 (the other elements are City 

Centre North and Lake Road).  This element of the works is not scheduled to start 

until January 2024.   

 

4.2 Approval of the design of this scheme will allow construction to progress as planned 

without any negative commercial implications.   

 

4.3 Once the scheme is delivered, there are many benefits that would be realised, 

principally around improvements in bus journey reliability (see 3.10 and 3.11 above).  

Implementation of the scheme is supported by the local bus companies.  Its delivery, 

along with the rest of the SEHRT programme, will unlock match funding investment 

from the bus companies. 

 

 

5. Integrated impact assessment 

 

5.1 An integrated impact assessment has been completed and is published alongside this 

report in Appendix B. 

 

 

6. Legal implications 

 

6.1 The are no specific legal implications from the recommendation in this report.  

 

6.2 City Centre South scheme is part of a wider South East Hampshire Rapid Transit 

package of works, which is being funded by TCF. Therefore, the scheme needs to be 

in compliance with the relevant funding bid proposal (as may have been amended and 

agreed with the Government) and terms of the grant agreement with the Council.  

 

 

7. Director of Finance's comments 

 

7.1 The costs of works on Station Road and Isambard Brunel Road will be funded from the 

South East Hampshire Rapid Transit (SEHRT) budget in the capital programme 

approved by Full Council on 28th February 2023.  These schemes are funded entirely 

by external grant awarded by the Department of Transport.  

 

Page 44



 

5 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

7.2 Construction is expected to complete by April 2024.  A change control form was 

submitted to the DfT on 8th September seeking authority to roll SEHRT grant funding 

to the 2024/2025 financial year.  

 

 

  

Page 45



 

6 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

……………………………………………… 

Signed by:  

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director of Regeneration 

 

Appendices:  

Appendix A: General arrangement drawing (49904_2002_0100) 

Appendix B: Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 

 

The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 

material extent by the author in preparing this report: 

 

Title of document Location 

The Portsmouth Transport Strategy 2021 

- 2038 

Portsmouth Transport Strategy 2021-2038 

Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure 

Plan 2020-2023  

74.463_LCWIP_Plan_Accessible.pdf 

(portsmouth.gov.uk) 

Cycle infrastructure design (LTN 1/20) 
 

Cycle infrastructure design (LTN 1/20) - 

GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 

rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 

 

 

……………………………………………… 

Signed by:  

 

Cabinet Member for Transport   

  

Page 46

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/74.633-Local-Transport-Plan-2021-Final-Accessible.pdf
https://travel.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/74.463_LCWIP_Plan_Accessible.pdf
https://travel.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/11/74.463_LCWIP_Plan_Accessible.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/cycle-infrastructure-design-ltn-120


 

7 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Appendix A: General arrangement drawing (49904_2002_0100) (separate document) 

  

Page 47



 

8 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Appendix B: Integrated Impact Assessment 

 

 

  
 

 

Policy details 

 

Request date 22/08/2023 11:20 

Directorate PCC Regeneration 

Service Infrastructure - Major Projects 

Title of policy, service, 

function 

SEHRT City Centre South 

Type of policy, service, 

function 

Changed 

What is the aim of your 

policy, service, function, 

project or strategy? 

The aim is to introduce a bus-only route and improve the 

area for walking, cycling and public transport. Surrounding 

footpaths will also be improved to link with the Fratton to 

Portsmouth Guildhall walking route.  

 

To improve this area of the city we are proposing to:  

 

Modify the road layout on Isambard Brunel Road to allow 

a two-way traffic flow for buses and taxis Replace the mini 

roundabout with a crossroads traffic light junction, with 

controlled pedestrian crossings. Add a new controlled 

pedestrian crossing on Isambard Brunel Road, near to 

Guildhall Square 

Has any consultation 

been undertaken for this 

proposal? 

No 

 

 

Form name Integrated Impact Assessment 

Reference IA522805685 

Date 22/08/2023 

 

Page 48



 

9 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the protected 

characteristics? 

 

With the above in mind 

and following data 

analysis, who is the 

policy, service, function, 

project or strategy going 

to benefit or have a 

detrimental effect on and 

how? 

It is providing better accessibility through installation of 

walking and cycling facilities in line with the accessibility 

requirements (New pedestrian crossings, designated 

cycle tracks and new pedestrian footways). Provide better 

access for people using mobility scooters/wheelchairs or 

partially sighted/blind groups. 

Will any of those groups 

be affected in a different 

way to others because of 

your policy, project, 

service, function, or 

strategy? 

No 

If you are directly or 

indirectly discriminating, 

how are you going to 

mitigate the negative 

impact? 

N/A 

Who have you consulted 

with or are planning to 

consult with and what 

was/will be your 

consultation 

methodology? 

HIVE / Society for Blind as well as through public 

consultation with residents and stakeholders. 

Page 49



 

10 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

How are you going to 

review the policy, 

service, project or 

strategy, how often and 

who will be responsible? 

 

 

 

N/A 

 

Crime - Will it make our city safer? 

 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

 

Yes, through enhancing landscaping and provide more 

attractive public transportation walking and cycling routes 

towards the city centre. 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

 

 

N/A 

 

Housing - will it provide good quality homes? 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living? 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

• This project supports the following corporate priorities:  

•  

• • Make Portsmouth a city that works together, enabling 

communities to thrive and people to live healthy, safe and 

independent lives.  

•  

• • Encourage regeneration built around our city's thriving 

culture, making Portsmouth a great place to live, work, 

visit.  

•  

Page 50



 

11 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

• • Make our city cleaner, safer and greener.  

•  

• • Make Portsmouth a great place to live, learn and play, 

so our children and young people are safe, healthy and 

positive about their futures.  

•  

• • Make sure our council is a caring, competent and 

collaborative organisation that puts people at heart of 

everything that we do. Better cycle connectivity will 

hopefully encourage more people to cycle to their 

destinations. 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

 

Feedback from Residents, transport companies and 

users. 

 

Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation and reduce 

poverty? 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions? 

 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

Adding a lane will contribute to Improving bus journey 

times will encourage people to use public transport more 

and reduce the use of cars. Allowing buses to use a 

separate link will remove them from general traffic 

meaning less delays. 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

 

Feedback from Residents, transport companies and 

users. 

 

Energy use - will it reduce energy use? 

Page 51



 

12 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

 

 

Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate against a 

changing climate and flooding? 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more sustainable and 

well-maintained? 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Air quality - will it improve air quality? 

 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

Improving the cycling routes in the south of the city centre 

by widening the carriageway, to give more space for 

cyclists, add another lane to avoid delays on bus journey 

times and adding a crossing to encourage people to walk, 

use public transport will play a role in enhancing the air 

quality. 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

Protected open spaces are being preserved where 

possible.  

Any trees being removed will be replaced by at least 

double the amount removed.  

Shrubs being planted will allow for more species to make 

homes in the area.  

Greening strategy to be agreed with Parks & Open spaces 

team 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

Feedback from residents and specialists. 

Page 52



 

13 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

Feedback from residents, cyclists and bus companies. 

 

Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the whole 

community? 

 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

Improved cycle connectivity ensures they have safe ways 

to get to where they are going. The proposed crossing will 

give priority to pedestrians to ensure they safely get from 

point A to B, especially that's its an area that is heavily 

congested with students. Adding an extra lane will 

improve the cycling facilities giving more confidence for 

road users to use public transport. 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

Feedback from residents, cyclists and cycle forum. 

 

Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the production of waste? 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

 

 

Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture and heritage? 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

 

 

 

Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a skilled 

workforce? 

 

Page 53



 

14 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

South East Hampshire Rapid Transit aims to transform 

the way people travel between Portsmouth and 

surrounding towns. By enhancing existing public transport 

services through new and improved bus priority routes, 

South East Hampshire Rapid Transit will make travelling 

by bus a more attractive option. We are developing a 

network of rapid transit routes to help get people to where 

they want to be (Employment and education centres) by 

reliable and regular bus journeys which will connect with 

rail and ferry services – creating an integrated transport 

system. 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

 

 

N/A 

Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support sustainable 

growth and regeneration? 

 

Please expand on the 

impact your 

policy/proposal will have, 

and how you propose to 

mitigate any negative 

impacts? 

 

 

• Better connect our communities and travel to work areas. 

• Drive up productivity and support economic growth by 

improving access to employment and training 

How are you going to 

measure/check the 

impact of your proposal? 

 

Feedback from Residents, transport companies and 

users. 

 

Social value 

 

This section is not 

applicable to my policy 

 

 

 

 

 

Involvement 

Page 54



 

15 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

Who was involved in the 

Integrated impact 

assessment? 

 

PM/APM 

Name of the person 

completing this form 

 

Ahmad Hanoun 

Date of completion 2023-05-30 

 

Page 55



 

16 

www.portsmouth.gov.uk 
 

 
 

 

Page 56



A3

ALF
RED RD

A3

A2030

STATION ST

ARUNDEL ST

CASCADES SHOPPING
CENTRE

CO
MM

ER
CI

AL
 R

D

A3

LAKE RD WEST

LAKE RD EAST

ISAMBARDBRUNEL RD

PO
LIC

E

LOADING ONLY

S2

STANHOPE ROAD

STATION STREET

COMMERCIAL ROAD

CB

CB

CB

CB

CB

FOR CONTINUATION SEE BELOW

LOADING ONLY

G

GG

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

B

B B B B B B
B

20

LO
OK

 B
OT

H 
W

AY
S

S1

S3

LOADING

20

COMMERCIAL ROAD

ISAMBARD BRUNEL ROAD

IS
AM

BA
RD

 B
RU

NE
L R

OA
D

FO
R 

CO
NT

IN
UA

TI
ON

 S
EE

 A
BO

VE

G

G

G

G

B

B

B B B

B

RB RB
RB

B B B B B

RB

RB
RB

RB

Checked

Drawing Issue Status

Date of 1st Issue

Drawing Number

Designed

Revision

DrawnMark Revision ChkdDate

File Location: \\cbh-vfil-001\cbh\projects\49904 portsmouthcc tcf - city centre south\2000 - civils\design\cad\dwgs\2002 - ta\49904_2002_0100 - general arrangement.dwg

UTILITIES NOTE: The position of any existing public or private sewers, utility services, plant or apparatus shown on this
drawing is believed to be correct, but no warranty to this is expressed or implied.  Other such plant or apparatus may also
be present but not shown.  The Contractor is therefore advised to undertake their own investigation where the presence
of any existing sewers, services, plant or apparatus may affect their operations.

SCALING NOTE:  Do not scale this drawing - any errors or omissions shall be reported to Stantec without delay.

© Crown copyright and database rights          . Unauthorised reproduction
infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.
Ordnance Survey

user name: roseff, georgina

READING
Tel:  01189 500 761

Approved

Appd

Drawn
stantec.com/uk

Copyright reserved
The copyrights to all designs and drawings are the property of Stantec.

Reproduction or use for any purpose other than that
authorised by Stantec is forbidden.

PORTSMOUTH TCF SCHEMES
CITY CENTRE SOUTH
PROPOSED GENERAL ARRANGEMENT

F O R  P R I C I N G

49904/2002/0100 P04

18.08.22

1:250

SB RG

SB GR

P02 WORKSHOP 2 14.11.22 RG LC GR

P03 RESPONSE TO PCC COMMENTS 06.01.23 RG SH GR

P04 FOR PRICING 19.04.23 ENO GR GR

100019180

2019

Client

A1 Scale

NOTES:

1. DO NOT SCALE THIS DRAWING. IF IN DOUBT PLEASE REQUEST FURTHER
INFORMATION.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS ARE IN METRES UNLESS STATED OTHERWISE.
3. THIS DRAWING IS TO BE READ IN CONJUNCTION WITH ALL OTHER RELEVANT

CONTRACT DRAWINGS, CONSTRUCTION DETAILS AND SPECIFICATIONS.

0

metres

105

0

metres

105

KEY:

GENERAL
SITE BOUNDARY

PROPOSED KERB

PROPOSED ROAD MARKINGS

EXISTING BUS LANE

PROPOSED CARRIAGEWAY CONSTRUCTION

EXISTING FOOTWAY TO BE REGRADED TO SUIT DROPPED CROSSING

PROPOSED ISLAND (RED BLOCK PAVING)

PROPOSED CYCLE LANE (GREEN SURFACE DRESSING)

PROPOSED ASPHALT WITH YELLOW SURFACE DRESSING

PROPOSED ASPHALT WITH RED SURFACE DRESSING

PROPOSED BLOCK PAVING TO MATCH EXISTING

PROPOSED LOADING BAY BLOCK PAVING
PROPOSED FOOTWAY BAND OF 100mm X 100mm GRANITE SETTS
PROPOSED FOOTWAY PAVING

PROPOSED FOOTWAY PAVING (FULL DEPTH)

EXISTING WARNING PAVING TO REMAIN

PROPOSED TACTILE PAVING

PROPOSED CORDUROY PAVING

PROPOSED SPEED HUMP REFER TO SD49904_2002_SD01

PROPOSED HISTORIC BUS INSPECTORS KIOSK – SUBJECT TO
PLANNING PERMISSION (NOT PART OF CCS SCHEME)

EXISTING FENCE TO REMAIN

PROPOSED FENCE TO BE INSTALLED

RELOCATED METAL FENCE

PROPOSED BOLLARD REFER TO SD49904_2002_SD03

PROPOSED REMOVABLE BOLLARD REFER TO SD49904_2002_SD03

DRAINAGE

EXISTING GULLY TO REMAIN

EXISTING GULLY TO BE REBUILT TO SUIT PROPOSED SURFACE LEVELS

PROPOSED GULLY TO BE INSTALLED

EXISTING CHAMBER/MANHOLE
SIGNAGE

EXISTING SIGN TO REMAIN

EXISTING ILLUMINATED SIGN TO REMAIN

EXISTING SIGN TO BE RELOCATED

EXISTING SIGN TO BE REMOVED AND REPLACED

EXISTING COLLAPSIBLE BOLLARD TO REMAIN

PROPOSED SIGN POST

PROPOSED COLLAPSIBLE BOLLARD

PROPOSED ILLUMINATED BOLLARD

STREET LIGHTING

EXISTING LIGHTING COLUMN TO REMAIN

EXISTING LIGHTING COLUMN TO RELOCATED

EXISTING LIGHTING COLUMN TO REMAIN LUMINAIRE TO CHANGE

PROPOSED LIGHTING COLUMN LOCATION

PROPOSED TRAFFIC SIGNAL

BIKE STAND TO BE RELOCATED

BIKE STAND TO BE RETAINED

or

or

CB

IB

CB

G

G

G

B

RB

P
age 57

AutoCAD SHX Text
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
IL 3.40

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
TP

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
TLC

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
TLC

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_49
GR

AutoCAD SHX Text_50
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_51
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_52
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_53
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_54
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_55
BB

AutoCAD SHX Text_56
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_57
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_58
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_59
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_60
GVs

AutoCAD SHX Text_61
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_62
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_63
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_64
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_65
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_66
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_67
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_68
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_69
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_70
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_71
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_72
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_73
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_74
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_75
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_76
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_77
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_78
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_79
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_80
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_81
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_82
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_83
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_84
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_85
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_86
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_87
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_88
SEAT

AutoCAD SHX Text_89
TM

AutoCAD SHX Text_90
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_91
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_92
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_93
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_94
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_95
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_96
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_97
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_98
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_99
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_100
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_101
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_102
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_103
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_104
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_105
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_106
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_107
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_108
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_109
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_110
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_111
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_112
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_113
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_114
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_115
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_116
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_117
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_118
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_119
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_120
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_121
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_122
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_123
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_124
CCTV

AutoCAD SHX Text_125
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_126
GY 3.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_127
GY 3.71

AutoCAD SHX Text_128
GY 3.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_129
GY 4.04

AutoCAD SHX Text_130
GY 4.31

AutoCAD SHX Text_131
GY 3.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_132
GY 3.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_133
GY 4.41

AutoCAD SHX Text_134
GY 4.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_135
GY 5.10

AutoCAD SHX Text_136
GY 4.97

AutoCAD SHX Text_137
GY 4.47

AutoCAD SHX Text_138
GY 5.13

AutoCAD SHX Text_139
GY 5.00

AutoCAD SHX Text_140
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_141
GY 4.85

AutoCAD SHX Text_142
4.82

AutoCAD SHX Text_143
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_144
GY 4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_145
GY 4.76

AutoCAD SHX Text_146
GY 4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_147
GY 3.92

AutoCAD SHX Text_148
GY 3.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_149
GY 3.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_150
MT

AutoCAD SHX Text_151
TLC

AutoCAD SHX Text_152
GY 4.06

AutoCAD SHX Text_153
GY 5.09

AutoCAD SHX Text_154
GY 4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_155
GY 4.99

AutoCAD SHX Text_156
GY 5.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_157
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_158
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_159
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_160
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_161
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_162
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_163
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_164
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_165
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_166
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_167
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_168
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_169
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_170
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_171
ER

AutoCAD SHX Text_172
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_173
4.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_174
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_175
GY 3.80

AutoCAD SHX Text_176
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_177
TLC

AutoCAD SHX Text_178
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_179
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_180
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_181
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_182
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_183
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_184
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_185
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_186
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_187
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_188
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_189
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_190
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_191
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_192
CB

AutoCAD SHX Text_193
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_194
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_195
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_196
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_197
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_198
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_199
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_200
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_201
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_202
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_203
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_204
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_205
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_206
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_207
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_208
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_209
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_210
TCB

AutoCAD SHX Text_211
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_212
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_213
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_214
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_215
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_216
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_217
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_218
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_219
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_220
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_221
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_222
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_223
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_224
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_225
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_226
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_227
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_228
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_229
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_230
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_231
BOs

AutoCAD SHX Text_232
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_233
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_234
LP

AutoCAD SHX Text_235
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_236
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_237
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_238
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_239
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_240
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_241
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_242
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_243
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_244
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_245
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_246
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_247
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_248
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_249
BO

AutoCAD SHX Text_250
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_251
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_252
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_253
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_254
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_255
GY 4.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_256
GY 4.57

AutoCAD SHX Text_257
GY 2.94

AutoCAD SHX Text_258
GY 3.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_259
GY 3.44

AutoCAD SHX Text_260
GY 3.43

AutoCAD SHX Text_261
GY 3.98

AutoCAD SHX Text_262
GY 2.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_263
GY 2.88

AutoCAD SHX Text_264
GY 3.01

AutoCAD SHX Text_265
GY 3.55

AutoCAD SHX Text_266
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_267
GY 3.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_268
GY 3.74

AutoCAD SHX Text_269
GY 4.05

AutoCAD SHX Text_270
TLC

AutoCAD SHX Text_271
GY 3.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_272
GY 2.73

AutoCAD SHX Text_273
GY 4.75

AutoCAD SHX Text_274
LIGHT

AutoCAD SHX Text_275
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_276
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_277
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_278
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_279
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_280
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_281
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_282
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_283
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_284
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_285
3.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_286
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_287
3.67

AutoCAD SHX Text_288
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_289
3.69

AutoCAD SHX Text_290
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_291
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_292
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_293
SC

AutoCAD SHX Text_294
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_295
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_296
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_297
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_298
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_299
CATV

AutoCAD SHX Text_300
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_301
L.BIN

AutoCAD SHX Text_302
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_303
RS

AutoCAD SHX Text_304
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_305
3.17

AutoCAD SHX Text_306
GV

AutoCAD SHX Text_307
SV

AutoCAD SHX Text_308
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_309
4.33

AutoCAD SHX Text_310
SIGN

AutoCAD SHX Text_311
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_312
4.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_313
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_314
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_315
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_316
3.78

AutoCAD SHX Text_317
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_318
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_319
BT

AutoCAD SHX Text_320
GY 3.29

AutoCAD SHX Text_321
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_322
FH

AutoCAD SHX Text_323
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_324
4.49

AutoCAD SHX Text_325
GY

AutoCAD SHX Text_326
4.56

AutoCAD SHX Text_327
RWP

AutoCAD SHX Text_328
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_329
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_330
DCH

AutoCAD SHX Text_331
DCH



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

  
 

1 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
  

Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet Member for Transport Decision Meeting   

Date of meeting: 
 

12 October 2023 

Subject: 
 

Parking Charges on the Seafront East of South Parade Pier  

Report by: 
 
Report Author: 
 

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director Regeneration   
 
Kevin McKee, Parking Manager 

Wards affected: 
 

Eastney & Craneswater  

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 This report presents the comments and objections made as a result of formal 

consultation on Traffic Regulation Orders to introduce charging on the seafront 
east of South Parade Pier for on street parking and Canoe Lake Car Park. This 
is proposed between the start of November to the end of February when there is 
currently no charge.  

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport considers the 

comments submitted during the consultation and approves :  
 
2.1  The introduction of charging in the on-street parking bays in Southsea 

Esplanade and Eastney Esplanade, from 1 November to the end of 
February making the charging all year long.  It is further recommended 
that the charges are the same as during the other months of the year and 
apply from 8am to 6pm as they do the rest of the year. 

 
2.2   To introduce charging in Canoe Lake Car Park from 1 November to the end 

of February making the charging all year long .  It is further recommended 
that the charges are the same as during the other months of the year and 
apply from 8am to 8pm as they do the rest of the year .  

 
  
 
 
3. Background 

Page 59

Agenda Item 5



 
 
 

  
 

2 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
3.1 There is currently no charge for parking on the seafront east of South Parade 

Pier between 1 November and the end of February.  However, west of South 
Parade Pier charges apply all year round.  

 
3.2   When the weather is good or there is an event, a high parking demand is 

generated and there is an imbalance with vehicles concentrating on the eastern 
side of the seafront and the western side generally sparsely used.     

 
3.3 The proposal to introduce charging in the on-street parking was publicised under 

TRO 256/2023 and the proposed change to on Canoe Lake car park was under 
TRO 257/2023.  The Notices of Intent were published in the Portsmouth News 
on 11 August and street notices were also erected in the areas affected.  The 
public were invited to send in comments or objections by 1 September 2023.   

 
3.4  The public notices are included in Appendices A and B and the comments 

received in Appendices C and D of this report.  
 
 
4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1 To address the issue of the mismatch between the two adjacent areas of the 

seafront the option of charging a different off-peak tariff was considered. 
However, a more complicated tariff structure can confuse drivers and it is 
recommended that there is a clear all year tariff at each location.    

 
4.2 Furthermore the council wants to promote cleaner air and to encourage people 

to use other forms of mobility, like walking and cycling and using public 
transport. Free parking does not make people reconsider their choice of 
transport. 

 
4.3 There were 6 objections to the proposal for on street charges and 4 objections 

to the proposal for Canoe Lake Car Park.  It is important to consider the 
comments made by each objector, and they are reproduced and redacted in in 
the appendices C and D of this report.  

 
4.4  One of the main themes of the objections is that the charges would impact 

particularly on local residents who enjoy the seafront when it is less busy and 
may prevent them visiting. They consider these visits important for mental health 
and physical fitness.  There are some concerns that the charges could push 
people into parking in nearby residential roads. It is also suggested that the 
charges could encourage people to go to other seafront locations and affect 
local businesses. 

 
4.5 The City Council's adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 4)1 seeks to encourage 

people to consider alternatives to the car and to use of healthy forms of 
transport , walk and cycling and public transport instead.  A number of the 

 
1 Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) - Portsmouth City Council 

Page 60

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/services/parking-roads-and-travel/travel/local-transport-plan-4-ltp4/


 
 
 

  
 

3 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

objectors are from Southsea and are in walking or cycling distance of the 
seafront.  Accessing the seafront without using a car would improve their 
physical fitness and potentially boost their mental state. Fewer short journeys by 
car would also help improve air quality. The City Council is constantly improving 
the walking and cycling infrastructure to support this change.  

 
4.6  If the proposal is approved, free parking would remain on St Helen's Parade and 

Eastern Parade for up to 3 hours. This parking provides access to main of the 
businesses on this part of the seafront. In both locations Blue Badge Holders 
would be able to park for free and without time limit.   

  
4.7 It is recommended that to support the objectives of the Councils Local Transport 

Plan 4 and to address the mismatch between charging on the different areas of 
the seafront that the charges are introduced as proposed in the advertised 
Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs).  

             
 
5. Integrated Impact Assessment 
 
5.1 Please see the attached IIA that is outlined in appendix E of this report.  
 
 
 
6. Legal implications 
 
6.1 The council, as traffic authority for the City of Portsmouth, may by order 

designate parking places on highways in their area for vehicles or vehicles of 
any class specified in the order and may make charges for vehicles left in such 
parking places.   

  
6.2            In determining what places can be so designated the council is required to 

consider both the interests of traffic and those of the owners and occupiers of 
adjoining property and in particular shall have regard to:  

 
 (a)            the need for maintaining the free flow of traffic   
 (b)            the need for maintaining reasonable access to premises and  
 (c)            the extent to which off-street parking accommodation is available in  
                    the neighbourhood  
  
6.3           A local authority can by order under section 45 of the 1984 Act designate 

parking places on the highway (on-street parking), for vehicles or vehicles of any 
specified class in the order, and may charge for such parking as prescribed 
under section 46. Such Orders may designate a parking place for use only by 
such person or vehicles or such person or vehicles of a class specified in the 
order and may specify that such charges or restrictions are to apply at specified 
times only.  Any variations to such orders must be made by traffic order in the 
same way as the original order.    

  

Page 61



 
 
 

  
 

4 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

6.4           A proposed traffic order must be advertised and the statutory consultees notified 
and given a 3-week period (21 days) in which to register any support or 
objections. If objections are received to the proposed order the matter must go 
before the appropriate executive member for a decision whether or not to make 
the order, taking into account any comments received from the public and/or the 
statutory consultees during the consultation period.  

 
 
7. Director of Finance's comments 
 
7.1 The introduction of Off-Street charging in Canoe Lake Car Park and On Street 

charging along Eastney Esplanade between November and February was put 
forward as an Indicative Budget Saving in Portsmouth City Council's Budget for 
2023/24 agreed by Full Council on 28th February 2023. 

 
7.2 Should the recommendations in this report not be approved it will be necessary 

for the Council to seek alternative saving opportunities. 
 
 
 
  

Page 62



 
 
 

  
 

5 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
 
 
 
Appendices: 
 
Appendix A - TRO 256/2023 public notice 
Appendix B - TRO 257/2023 public notice  
Appendix C - consultation responses received as part of TRO 256/2023 
Appendix D - consultation responses received as part of TRO 257/2023 
Appendix E - IIA  
 
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
 
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 63



 
 
 

  
 

6 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

Appendix A   
 
THE PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL (EASTNEY ESPLANADE)  
(PARKING PLACES) (AMENDMENT) (NO. 256) ORDER 2023 
 

1. Notice is hereby given that the Portsmouth City Council proposes to make the above Order under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984.   The effect of the Order would be: 

 
a) To extend the days on which parking charges apply on the "Pay & Display" parking places on 

Eastney Esplanade and Southsea Esplanade from 1 March - 31 October to all year round, As 
detailed in the Schedule below.  The tariff would be unchanged and charging hours would remain at 
8am - 6pm. 
 

2. Copies of the draft Order and Statement of Reasons are available to view on Portsmouth City Council’s 
website: Search 'Traffic Regulation Orders 2023" at www.portsmouth.gov.uk.  Alternatively, they can be 
viewed at the Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, PO1 2AL, Monday to Friday between 9am - 4pm.  Printed 
copies can be obtained by calling 023 9268 8501. 

 
3. Persons wishing to object to or make other representations with regard to these proposals must do so in 

writing, stating the grounds on which they are made.  Representations must be sent to 
TROteam@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or by post to TRO Team, Portsmouth City Council, Civic Offices, 
Portsmouth PO1 2NE, quoting ref TRO 256/2023 within 21 days of the date of this Notice (i.e. by 1 
September 2023) stating the grounds for the objection.  

 
Under requirements of current access to information legislation, please note that all representations 
submitted in response to this Notice may be made available for public inspection. Full details of the Council’s 
Data Protection privacy notice can be viewed on the website. 
 
11 August 2023 
 
Felicity Tidbury, Assistant Director of Regeneration (Transport) 
Portsmouth City Council 
 
SCHEDULE 
 

AREA OF HIGHWAY DESIGNATED AS A PARKING PLACE 

EASTNEY ESPLANADE  
The southeast side;  
(a) from a point 67.3 metres south-west of its junction with Henderson Road in a south-westerly direction 
for a distance of 119 metres  
(b) from a point 200 metres south-west of its junction with Henderson Road in a south-westerly direction 
for a distance of 449 metres  
(c) from a point 204 metres north-east of the projected east side of St George's Road in a north-easterly 
direction for a distance of 277 metres  
(d) from a point 95 metres north-east of the projected east side of St George's Road in a north-easterly 
direction for a distance of 88 metres 

SOUTHSEA ESPLANADE 
The south side;  
(a) from a point 45 metres west of a point opposite the centre line of St George’s Road to a point 209 
metres west of that junction  
(b) from a point 218 metres west of the projected centre line of St George’s Road to a point 430 metres 
west of that junction  
(c) from a point 24 metres east of the projected east side of The Ocean At The End Of The Lane in an 
easterly direction for a distance of 497 metres 

 

 
 
 

Page 64

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/your-council/transparency/data-protection-privacy-notice


 
 
 

  
 

7 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

Appendix B  
 
THE PORTSMOUTH CITY COUNCIL (SEAFRONT, CANOE LAKE CAR PARK) (AMENDMENT) (NO. 257) 
ORDER 2023 
 

4. Notice is hereby given that the Portsmouth City Council proposes to make the above Order under the Road 
Traffic Regulation Act 1984.   The effect of the Order would be: 

 
b) To extend the days on which parking charges apply in Seafront, Canoe Lake Car Park from 1 March - 

31 October to all year round.  The tariff will be unchanged, and the charging hours will remain at 8am 
- 8pm 
 

5. Copies of the draft Order and Statement of Reasons are available to view on Portsmouth City Council’s 
website: Search 'Traffic Regulation Orders 2023" at www.portsmouth.gov.uk.  Alternatively, they can be 
viewed at the Civic Offices, Guildhall Square, PO1 2AL, Monday to Friday between 9am - 4pm. Printed 
copies can be obtained by calling 023 9268 8501. 

 
6. Persons wishing to object to or make other representations with regard to these proposals must do so in 

writing, stating the grounds on which they are made.  Representations must be sent to 
TROteam@portsmouthcc.gov.uk or by post to TRO team, Portsmouth City Council, Civic Offices, 
Portsmouth PO1 2NE, quoting ref TRO 257/2023 within 21 days of the date of this Notice (i.e. by 1 
September 2023) stating the grounds for the objection.  

 
Under requirements of current access to information legislation, please note that all representations 
submitted in response to this Notice may be made available for public inspection. Full details of the Council’s 
Data Protection privacy notice can be viewed on the website. 
 
11 August 2023 
 
 
Felicity Tidbury, Assistant Director of Regeneration (Transport) 
Portsmouth City Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 65

http://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/
https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/ext/your-council/transparency/data-protection-privacy-notice


 
 
 

  
 

8 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

Appendix C  
 

TRO 256/2023 - Southsea and Eastney Esplanades 
 
Formal consultation objections  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I’d like to register my objection at the introduction of all year parking charges in southsea. Charges were introduced to 
reduce congestion. There is no congestion in winter. This will prevent local people using the beach for walking and dog 
walks in particular when we should be encouraging that for fitness and mental health reasons. Equally there are no 
busses for the east end of southsea sea front. This is just a money making exercise during a cost of living crisis that will 
adversely hit the pockets and / or physical and mental well being of Portsmouth residents. You should be ashamed of 
even considering it 

I don’t know why you would want to charge for parking on the eastney end of the beach in winter making it harder for  
people to enjoy it.I think we should have some free spaces to park to enjoy our beach when it is less crowded .Does it 
always have to be about money really disappointing please reconsider.  

Hi I am writing this email to you with regards to the signs you have put up along the beach for parking fees to be 
applied throughout the winter months. 
I am so upset. Living in along Southsea seafront and having to put up with limited parking and trolls of visitors that 
make living in Southsea so busy and hectic in the summer months. The winter months is where I get my solace, and the 
reason why I moved to Southsea. All that will happen with the parking fees is push people to park in the side streets 
and making it even harder to park. Since Covid so many people use the sea for swimming and really gives the 
impression of healthy living. Disabled and elderly people get so much enjoyment sitting along the beach in their cars 
and looking out to the wonderful view. Dog walkers come. People spend money at Coffee Cup and give’s people in the 
winter a free thing to do  We pay so much in council tax. You are taking so much away from people. The seafront will 
be empty in the week if you implement changes. I will be contacting my local MP. 
 
Please listen to your local people please. 
 
 

To whom it may concern  
I note with dismay the above application. This has been the only perk which people have ever had for the enjoyment 
of  Eastney beach. Ask yourselves who makes use of parking and the beach. Is it not predominantly local people, rather 
than tourists, who want to have a walk and wander along the beach? Do these people not contribute enough through 
council tax etc.?  
It seems a great shame to take this away from people as well as potentially making parking more difficult for residents 
in adjacent streets, because people will endeavour to park there. 
What is the council hoping to gain? I'd be happier if more attention was paid to keeping dogs off the beach during the 
summer months and stop them fouling on the beach as well as accosting swimmers. 
 
 

Page 66



 
 
 

  
 

9 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

Appendix D   
 
 

TRO 257/2023 Canoe Lake Car Park  
 
Formal Consultation Objections 
 
 
Hi, I did send an email earlier but pressed the wrong button and I wasn’t finished writing the email. Not very 
technical so I’m sending the email again in full . I feel very strongly to send an email which I don’t do very 
often but feel very sad about the proposed parking charges from November to March on Southsea Seafront . 
The seafront will be under used in the winter months if this happens and should be encouraging people to 
get out and get active with a walk a swim etc along the seafront . The winter months is a lifeline to so many 
people including me it’s a real feel-good factor.  us local people share our seafront all through the summer 
months and winter is mainly used by locals who pay council taxes for our town and to have This proposed 
parking charges is very sad, and unfortunately people won’t do this activity as much or not at all anymore . I 
know I won’t be able to park along the seafront and pay those charges I always use the seafront in the winter 
months because I don’t like crowds so the winter months are so important for me to get out for my mental 
health and for exercise but there’s no way I can afford to pay the charges as I walk most days from my car in 
the winter . It will affect so many local businesses & people's health in so many ways . I feel very scared that 
this will happen as my future won’t be the same . Please, please really think about doing this it’s not the right 
thing to do . Thank you for your time in reading this.  
---------------------- 
 
I would like to object to seafront amendment parking changes. This will be another mail in the coffin for our 
community. The off season is when is locals can us the seafront and is the time when a lot of us enjoy it 
more due to the quietness of it. It would seem that it’s more important to get every penny out of people who 
especially the local community when we already pay road tax and council tax. The seafront is a huge help to 
mine and many others mental health especially with the current climate with the cost of living it’s my get 
away especially in the winter months when everything seems harder, the heating bills are higher and the 
days are shorter. The seafront is a little getaway from the costs of life for me and others to get away from it 
all. I don’t think you understand for us of Portsmouth we count down the days until the parking charges stop 
on the seafront and that’s the time we love our seafront most. Please do not take this away from us. 
 
Please could I be told the reasons for the change and the thought process behind this? Why is this come to 
be an option? 
 
----------------------------- 
Dear Sir / Madam 
I am a resident In Southsea. And can not believe you / the council are going charge people/ residents to 
have to pay to park on the seafront in the winter months. 
For what reasons would you have to do this? 
We pay enough council tax as it is and especially in these hard times that everyone is struggling with 
mortgages rent food bills etc… And now you are going to put in an extra cost for people that go to the 
seafront to get away from the stresses of life. To go for a swim to help with peoples Mental health! 
I think this is shocking and greedy. 
And I oppose to these parking charges and I hope you do for once listen to the residents of southsea. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
--------------- 

Page 67



 
 
 

  
 

10 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
Dear PCC, 
Please help us as a community to keep the seafront free of charge for parking during the winter months as it 
is Portsmouth residents who use this not people visiting here. 
I use the seafront every day to go for a swim in the sea and will now be forced to park further away and 
where residents who live in Southsea will be affected by further pressure on limited parking. 
In times where money is limited why charge for this?  
 
--------------------------- 
 
Since moving to Portsmouth from the Midlands 2 years ago, believing we had retired to a welcoming, safe 
city with a lovely, accessible seaside resort, my husband and I have become more and more disillusioned.  
 
I understand the economy has been in state of flux with the energy crisis and the war in the Ukraine. 
However it feels to us that you just see your council tax payers and locals as a money pit to be bled dry, 
instead of looking at creative ways to raise income through better promotion of the city, its impressive 
independent scene and its wonderful heritage.   
 
I strongly object to the recently announced proposal to charge for parking on the seafront all year round.  I 
can fully understand the requirement during the summer and main tourist season.  But the proposed 
extension to all year round is a slap in the face for us locals.  
 
Is it to rinse even more revenue out of residents, maybe more groundwork for your madcap dreams of a 
15min city, or just a feeble attempt to drive out the camper vans that seem to take up permanent residence 
once the tourists have gone home?  
 
If it’s the latter perhaps you could first do something about the ones that park on suburban streets; with their 
gas canisters out on the pavement, or the ones that park near dangerous corners and block access!  
 
This action will drive more of that sort of selfish parking, as well as more cars seeking free spaces into all the 
side roads, as well as private spaces in some places around the seafront, making parking even more of a 
nightmare than it already is for the majority of citizens on the island.  
 
For those that swim for health all year round, a quick dip en route to work is becoming an expensive 
business and to add insult to injury, your impotence in taking on Southern Water and tackling the challenges 
around local water quality like the Pier area (with pathetic excuses about seagulls)  mean that we will pay 
through the nose to swim in polluted waters all year round now! Terrific!    
 
How about instead of rinsing us locals, you do more to sort the state of the beach when the ravaging hordes 
have been down.  It’s one thing keeping the bins empty but how about more patrols, obvious signage and 
stringent on-the- spot fines for people walking away from their detritus?  That might help with revenue 
generation whilst also sending a strong message to this lazy, self-centred generation of people who expect 
others to clear up after them.  It seems to be working in Southampton!! 
And don’t even get me started on the potential impact of the whole Aquind scenario, where it seems to me as 
an observer that your input has been somewhat lukewarm!  
 
If that nightmare scenario happens, the likely loss of any free parking at all in Eastney, the environmental 
bomb waiting to happen and the ghastly prospect of a gridlocked city for years to come are making us 
seriously wonder about our retirement dream!  
Please reconsider this proposal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
------------------------ 
 

Page 68



 
 
 

  
 

11 
 www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
Re: Introduction of all year parking charges at Eastney & Southsea Esplanades and Canoe Lake car park. 
I’m most disappointed to learn of this by Portsmouth City Council. Will this not lead to loss of business for the 
traders of the seafront and more congestion on local streets and probably fewer visitors in the winter months 
to Southsea?  Additionally, visitors from further afield could decide to visit other south coast resorts where 
there are cheaper or no car parking charges in the winter months. 
Others affected will include shore anglers, dog walkers, and others who cannot for various reasons use the 
seafront between 6:00pm and 8:00am or use public transport during peak hours and have to rely on their 
cars for transport. 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



Form name Integrated Impact Assessment

Reference IA548888421

Date 21/09/2023

Policy details

Request date 21/09/2023 19:49

Directorate PCC Regeneration

Service Transport -Parking

Title of policy,
service, function

All year charging Southsea and Eastney Esplanades

Type of policy,
service, function

New

What is the aim of
your policy, service,
function, project or
strategy?

To encourage drivers to consider alternatives to the car
and to address the difference in charging between the
western and eastern end of the seafront.

Has any consultation
been undertaken for
this proposal?

yes

What were the
outcomes of the
consultations?

A number of concerns were expressed about access to
the seafront

Has anything
changed because of
the consultation?

yes

Please provide details As a result of receiving the objections the matter has
been referred the Cabinet Member for review and
decision

Did this inform your
proposal?

no

Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the
protected characteristics?

Page 71



With the above in
mind and following
data analysis, who is
the policy, service,
function, project or
strategy going to
benefit or have a
detrimental effect on
and how?

The policy encourages people to consider options other
than driving and effects all people equally except Blue
Badge Holders who will be exempt.

Will any of those
groups be affected in
a different way to
others because of
your policy, project,
service, function, or
strategy?

It will not effect Blue Badge Holders.

If you are directly or
indirectly
discriminating, how
are you going to
mitigate the negative
impact?

The proposal does not discriminate.

Who have you
consulted with or are
planning to consult
with and what
was/will be your
consultation
methodology?

The consultation was a statutory one. There was a
newspaper notice and notices were put up in the effected
areas.

How are you going to
review the policy,
service, project or
strategy, how often
and who will be
responsible?

The feedback from the public will be reviewed and
considered by officers in the parking section. 

Crime - Will it make our city safer?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Page 72



Housing - will it provide good quality homes?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

The proposal is intended to make people consider
alternatives to using the car. this can have a positive
impact on the person deciding not to use the car and
generally improve air quality.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

The amount of parking can be measured but it is difficult
to acturately measure air quality improvements.

Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation
and reduce poverty?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

The financial impact of parking charges is relatively
small compared to the cost of running a car. If the
charges encourage those on low incomes to use
healthier alternates there is a positive impact. If they
choose to continue using the car there will be a cost.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

The numbers using parking spaces will be measured.

Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?

Page 73



Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

There can be a positive impact if fewer cars drive to the
seafront and there is less congestion.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

It would be hard to measure the effect accurately
because so many other factors impact on the data.

Energy use - will it reduce energy use?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

A reduction in car use will reduce the amount of petrol,
diesel and electricity .

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

It will be hard to measure the actual impact of the
parking charge on the use of fuel.

Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate
against a changing climate and flooding?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

Any impact is likely to be small but if it reduces car use it
will have a positive effect

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

It would be hard to measure any effect.

Page 74



Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more
sustainable and well-maintained?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Air quality - will it improve air quality?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

Reducing the use of cars would have a positive effect on
air quality#.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

It would be very difficult to measure the impact of
charging for parking in this area on air quality.

Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the
whole community?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

Parking charges will encourage drivers to consider other
options and reduce the number of cars on the road. This
makes the roads safer for pedestrians.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

The number of cars parking can be measured from the
charges paid.

Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the
production of waste?

Page 75



This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture
and heritage?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a
skilled workforce?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support
sustainable growth and regeneration?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Social value

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Involvement

Who was involved in
the Integrated impact
assessment?

Kevin McKee
Page 76



Name of the person
completing this form

Kevin McKee

Date of completion 2023-09-21

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

1 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

 
  

Title of meeting: 
 

Cabinet Member for Transport Decision Meeting  

Date of meeting: 
 

12 October 2023 

Subject: 
 

Residents Parking Programme of Consultation  

Report by: 
 
Report Author: 
 

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director Regeneration  
 
Kevin McKee, Parking Manager 

Wards affected: 
 

All 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1       To propose a further programme of consultation on residents parking zones.   
 
 
2. Recommendations 
 
 It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport approves:  
 
2.1 That the Residents' Parking Programme of Consultation progresses with 3 

work streams as set out in paragraphs 4.4 to 4.5 of this report; 
 
2.2 That there are rolling programmes around these areas so that a residents 

parking scheme is agreed in an area, areas around it are then consulted  
 
2.3 That the costs of external consultancy are met from the parking reserve;  
 
2.4  That staffing in the parking permit and suspensions teams are kept under 

review in anticipation of the increasing number of zones.    
 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The City Council receives regular requests from resident for residents parking 

schemes.  In each area being considered an informal consultation is carried out 
where residents are asked a series of questions about whether there is a 
parking problem in their area,  when it occurs, what causes it and whether they 

Page 79

Agenda Item 6



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

2 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

think a Residents Parking Zone would be useful. If the results of the informal 
survey are positive there is then a formal consultation required for enacting a 
Traffic Regulation Order to make the restrictions required to implement the 
scheme.     

 
3.2 The Council has run a number of programmes of consultation. It is recognised 

that if a scheme is introduced in one area it may create displacement issues on 
the boundary. This maybe caused by residents moving vehicles they do not 
want to buy permits for or by people parking vehicles that are not eligible for 
permits. In many cases these vehicles are moved to just outside the zone where 
parking is unrestricted.  

 
3.3 To counter this there has been a rolling programme to consult in areas 

surrounding a new zone. This means considerable time can be taken focused 
on a rolling programme and while this is taking place other areas are not 
progressed.  

 
3.4 The last programme of consultation was decided on 2 September 2021.  It was 

agreed that areas that had been on the list for consultation for some time but 
were unlikely to cause displacement should be actioned and then the 
programme should look at a further rolling programmes starting with the area 
around Shearer Road GC if a zone was proposed for that area, then Mulberry 
BG, Wymering AB and Cosham BC.   

 
3.5  The programme agreed in September 2021 identified five areas for consultation 

where significant displacement was unlikely, these were:  
 
   (i)  Doyle Avenue 
   (ii)  North Stamshaw 
   (iii)  Pembroke Park  
   (iv) Froddington Road  
   (v)  Railway View  
 
 
3.6  The programme has been significantly delayed by staff departures, difficulties 

recruiting and competing priorities and increased need for Traffic Regulation 
Orders. This has impacted on the progress of the Residents Parking Programme 
of Consultation. An update is presented in the following paragraphs of this 
report.  
 

3.7 Informal consultation has been conducted in each area listed in paragraph 3.5 
above.   

 
 Doyle Court  
3.8 Following discussion with local ward members Doyle Avenue was not 

progressed. The informal survey produced a strange result where 54% of 

Page 80



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

respondents said they thought a residents parking scheme would be useful but 
62% said there was not a problem parking.  It did not seem sensible to proceed 
with a formal scheme and propose residents pay for permits when almost two 
thirds of those who responded felt there was no problem parking.  

 
 Stamshaw  North 
3.9 Formal consultation was conducted on Stamshaw and decision to proceed was 

taken by the Cabinet Member for Transport' decision meeting on 10 August 
2023. 

 
3.10 Pembroke Park  
  The zone went live in October 2022.   
 
3.11 Railway View/Froddington Road  
 The proposed Traffic Regulation Order for these zones is being finalised and 

formal consultation will take place shortly.  
 
3.12 The next area for formal consultation in the programme is Shearer Road and 

this report puts forward a suggested rolling programme around that area. 
However, it is also recognised that with the current resources it may take some 
time to complete and if only one area was progressed it would lead to other 
areas waiting.  

 
3.13 The council has been unsuccessful in appointing sufficient additional resources 

to support this work area. This is due to a national skills shortage and the 
workload also fluctuates.  This report therefore proposes a recommendation to 
deliver the programme supported by external resources but manage the work 
closely internally. 

  
  
4. Reasons for recommendations 
 
4.1  Under the existing September 2021 programme if a proposed RPZ in the 

Shearer Road area is agreed following formal consultation a rolling programme 
of consultation would start in the surrounding areas.  If a zone was not approved 
in the Shearer Road area, consultation would take in BG Mulberry and if that 
was approve a rolling programme would commence around that area. 

 
4.2 A rolling programme can take a significant time to complete and considering one 

area at a time may mean that those areas further down the list may have to wait 
before being actioned.  

 
4.3 In order to increase the speed at which residents' concerns can be addressed it 

is proposed to employ a specialist consultancy to help support, develop and 
deliver the more technical aspects of the programme including managing 
informal consultations, drafting of Traffic Regulation Orders, sign and marking 

Page 81



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

4 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

design and Formal Consultation. Each RPZ creates different local issues, and it 
is important that this external consultancy works closely with a council officer for 
local input.   

 
4.4  Using this external resource, when necessary, it is recommended that the 

programme has three work streams: 
 

  Central Workstream  
  (i) Formal Consultation in the Shearer Road area (GC) and a rolling 

programme spanning out from there starting with Winchester Road area 
(GD) and if a residents parking zone is agreed for GD the next areas will be 
considered for consultation.  

   
  Eastern Workstream 
  (ii) Informal and if appropriate formal consultation in the area east of the 

existing zones in NB Locksway Road area where displacement is currently 
taking place. If a residents parking zone is agreed in NB the area to the 
south NC will be consulted.    

   
  Northern Workstream  
  (iii) Informal and if appropriate formal consultation in the area round the 

between Cosham Station - BG Mulberry Lane, BC East Cosham and the 
Queen Alexdra Hospital  (BG) and Roads to the West of Wymering Lane 
(except Cromer and Colchester Roads which are already controlled) as an 
extension of the AB zone.  Depending on the results of informal and formal 
consultations rolling programmes will be put in place to consider any 
significant issues of displacement.  

    
4.5 Outline of Programme   
  

Work 
Stream  

October 
/November   

December/ 
January  

February 
/March  

 April/May 

(i) Centre    GD - Winchester Road 
Informal 

  

GC Shearer Road - 
Formal 

 GD - Winchester Road  
Formal 

 

(ii) 
East  

NB Locksway Road - 
Informal 

 NC - Kingsley Road  
Informal 

 

 NB Locksway Road -
Formal 

 NC- Kingsley Road   
Formal 

(iii) 
North  

BG Mulberry Lane - 
Informal  

BC East Cosham 
Extension -Informal 

AB Wymering Lane - 
Informal 

 

 BG Mulberry 
Lane  Formal  

BC East Cosham 
Extension -Formal 

AB Wymering Lane 
Formal 

 
4.6  Once a new zone has been agreed, the implementation requires the signs and 

lines to be designed, ordered and installed.   The Parking Service has a small 
technical team which can erect signs, but RPZs tend to require a large number 
of signs and this can stretch the internal team. Depending on work load it maybe 

Page 82



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

5 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

necessary to use the specialist consultancy to specify and implement the signs. 
This will be reviewed as throughout the programme.  

 
4.7  Before a new zone goes live all properties in the area need to be notified 

and the process for applying for residents, visitors and business permits 
explained.  In addition, there are often many questions from residents, visitors 
and businesses that need to be answered. This creates a peak of work prior 
to implementation. 

 
4.8  A similar situation occurs with suspension requests.  These are requests 

to suspend formal parking bays, so an area is kept clear for a house removal 
or works on the highway or works effecting the highway.  These requests 
have increased significantly since the Pandemic.   

 
4.9  It takes a considerable time to recruit and train new staff and there is often a 

lag between the increased workload and the staff required.  With an 
accelerated programme we need to keep this under review.  

 
  
5. Integrated impact assessment 

 An integrated impact assessment has been carried out on the process of 
consultation and the results are attached in Appendix 2.  

 
 
6. Legal implications 
 
6.1 The City Council's statutory duties as a local transport authority in relation to the 

management of parking in the City are identified in the body of the report. The 
further development of a detailed scheme is intended to contribute to the 
fulfilment of those statutory duties. 

 
6.2 As the recommendations do not propose any further action at this stage there 

are no legal implications. Any alterations or additions to the existing traffic 
regulations orders will require approval in the usual way. 

 
 
7. Director of Finance's comments 
 
7.1 The indicative cost for an external consultancy to undertake the informal, then 

formal consultations for the implementation of a new Residents Parking Zone is 
estimated to be in the region of £40,000. For the first zone, a significant amount 
of work is required to prepare and develop materials, templates, and ways of 
working. It is therefore anticipated that consultations on further zones would cost 
less.  

 

Page 83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

6 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 

7.2 The seven zones outlined in the programme in 4.5 could therefore cost up to 
£280,000, some of which is likely to fall into the 2024/25 Financial Year. 

 
7.3 This cost can currently be met from the On Street Parking cash limit, utilising 

underspends arising from staff shortages (referenced in 3.6) and income 
upsides against the year-to-date budget. 

 
7.4 Should any unforeseen pressures emerge on the On Street Parking cash limit 

before the end of the 2023/24 Financial Year, the Council will look to use the 
Parking Reserve. 

 
   
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
Appendices:  
 
Background list of documents: Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
 
The following documents disclose facts or matters, which have been relied upon to a 
material extent by the author in preparing this report: 
 

Title of document Location 

  

  

 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 

Page 84



D
R

D
E

L
P

H
I

Falcon Green

ALMOND

CL 

LODGE

R
O

A
D

P
A

R
K

W
E

S
T

W
A

Y
S

PENK        
 RIDGE

FORTUNES

AURIOL        
        

        
        

   DRIVE

B
E

V
E

R
L
E

Y

AVENUE

ROAD

WOODFIELD

G
R

RECTORY

PORTSDOWN

A 2030

S
T

 A
N

D
R

E
W

S
  
R

D

ACORN CL

B
IN

WATERMEAD

RD

OLD

THE SALTINGS

FARM

SS

DENVILLE CL

A 2
7

SHEARWATER DR

Osprey Close

OAKAPPLE
GDNS

AVENUE

AVENUE

E
A

S
T

BEECH

DR 

E

C
Y

G
N

E
T

  
  
  
R

D

WAY

K
E

S
T

R
E

L

P
L

WAY

HECTOR
CL

C
R

O
O

K
H

O
R

N

ATLANTIS

WAY

C
O

L
L
E

G
E

ROAD

ROAD

L
L
M

A
N

ROAD

ELMTREE
RD

R
O

A
D

PER

OLD

COP

G
I

R
E

C
T

O
R

Y
  
  
  
  
A

V
E

GISORS

RD

H
O

L
L
A

M

LOCKSWAY

C
R

O
F

T
O

N

R
T
YA
V

F
E

R
R

Y
R

O
A

D

FE
R

R
Y

C
R

O
M

W
E

L
L

R
O

Y
A

L
 G

A
T
E

ROAD

K
A

S
S

A
S

S
IN

  
  
  
S

T

WORSLEY
ST

EASTNEY

CRINOLINE

GDNS

ST
Hopkins Ct

HENDERSON

GARDENS

H
O

R
N

LA
N

E

C
R

O
O

K

ROAD

ASHLEY

A
IN

SD

BLAKE    RD

BURNH

ALE  RD

HILL

RD

AVENUE

PETER

AM

A
V

E
N

U
E

CR

FARLIN

BIR

ROAD

ON ES K

GTON

AVE

TH
ERISE

OWN

U
N

D
E

DALE

THE

HILLTOP

PORTSDOWN

CHRISTCHURCH
GDNS

P
a
th

C
R

E
S

NS

BROW

PARK

N
U

T
B

O S

H
A

R
D

Y

R
D

BROAD

GDNS

F
A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

SECOND

ROAD

L
O

W
E

R

THE
FAIRWAYS

S
P

U
R

FIRST

Sandpipers

N

E
D

Copsey

U

R
O

A
D

E

R
O

A
D

A 27

FITZHERBERT

M
A

R
S

H
L
A

N
D

S

MARSHLANDS

SPUR

F
IS

H
E

R
S

G
R

KNIGHT

GDNS

RIN

W
O

ZETLAND  R
OAD

R
D

W
A

T
E
R

R
K

S

R
N

E

ES

C
R

P
a
th

G
A

L
T

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
R

O
A

D

EVELEGH

GRANT

F
A

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

A
V

E

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

East
Copsey

Path

CO
ROAD

R
O

A
D

L
E

A
L
A

N
D

OLD RESERVOIR RD

R
O

A
D

BERT

P

S
O

U
T

H

ROAD

FITZHER

T

Zetla
nd P

ath

KING ARTHUR'S

CT

Copsey Cl

V

E
Y

GRO

H
IG

H
L
A

N
D

S
 R

D

ROAD

O
L

L
O

W

S
T

  
H

E
L
L

E
N

S
  

R
D

HAVANT

OWN

ROAD

MOORT

O
N

C
L
O

S
E

R
O

A
D

JA
C

K
S

E
A

S
T

E
R

N

R
O

A
D

ALDSWORTH GDNS

MANOR
MEWS

L
A

N
E

CHILGROVE RD

L
A

B
U

R
N

U
M

  
  
  
A

V
E

CENTRAL

ALD

P
S

LEALAND

GR

DENE H

A
U

G
U

S
T

IN
E

  
  
  

  
 R

O
A

D

P
O

R
T

S
D

O
W

N

SEA

U
P

L
A

N
D

S

SOLENT

L
A

N
E

DOWN       END       ROAD

VIEW

P
A

R
L
O

U
R

W
A

Y

ATI

EY
DL

O
U

WAY

CHALK

PADDOCK
CLOSE

WAINWRIGHT
CLOSE

A
V

E

BUTTERMILK
CLOSE

Aldsworth Path

HOYLAKE

R
O

A
DDOWN END

A
V

E
N

U
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

DALE

TRO

ST

L
A

N
E

WER DR

T
O

N

K
IR

T
L
E

Y

C
L

WALTON

R

ST

AVE

ON

KAREN

H
IR

S
T

TESLA

FRANKLIN CLOSE

F
A

R
A

D
A

Y
R

D

R
D

STED

L
O

W
E

R

M
A

N
O

R
C

R
E

S

V
E

R
G

O
R

D
O

N
  

A
V

E

AVENUE

BRAEMAR  AVE

OR 
DR

KINROSS      CRESCENT

EDISON
SPUR DR

M
E

R
Z

C
L

LO

M
E

R
T

H
Y

R

ROAD

C
A

R
M

A
R

T
H

E
N

PENRHYN

P
E

N
A

R
T

H
  
  

A
V

E
A

V
E

LAMPETER

AVE

B
R

E
C

O
N

DRAYTON

A
V

E
N

U
E

A
V

E
N

U
E

TORFRIDA COURT

ROADAD

WATERLOCK
GARDENS

C
R

E
S

BROOM
CL

A

SQUARE

G
S

H
O

R
E

O
R

C
H

A
R

D
 L

A
N

E

R
D

Vanguard Ct

R
O

A
D

C
E

RIONU
NT

MELVILLE

CUM
BERLA

ND

R
D

R
O

A
D

N
L

U

FE

Godiva Lawn

YEO COURT

REDLANDS GROVE

AMYAS COURT

Lightfoot Lawn

HOLNE COURT

ROAD

Wake Lawn

R
D

RRY

H
O

R
S
E

S
A
N

D
S

C
L

M
S

D
E

LEOFRIC COURT

SOVEREIGN
DRIVE

R
O

A
D

L
A

N
E

SE

F
U

R
Z

E

OAKDENE RD

WAY

CL

KIN

REED

ELL   G
DNS

SH
LE

CK
ROAD

GT

FORT

ROAD

GIBRALTAR

FINCH

H
A

ESPLANADE

GARDENS

SEA
BREEZE
GDNS

HENDERSON

C
R

E
S

DRIFTWOOD

ESPLANADE  

GARDENS

EASTNEY

FARM RD

C
O

T
A

M
A

R
IS

K

C
L

R
O

A
D

ROAD
BROOM

L
A

N
G

S
T

O
N

E

C
H

A
P

E
L

 V
IE

W

WOODLANDS

W
A

L
K

DRIVE

S
T

O
W

E
 R

D

F
A

IR CHERITON RD

D
R

IV
E

W
A

Y

O
A
K

Coach-

House Mews

T
H

E

BRASTED
COURT

REDW
IN

G

CT

EDE

HAVEN

IDGE

ROAD

IR

TOWPATH MEADT
R

E
V

IS

R
D

M
E

R
Y

L
R

D
  

ROAD

M
O

R
G

A
N

R
D

R
D

L
A

N
E

P
L
E

A
S R
D

S
H

E
L
F

O
R

D

S
O

L
E

N
T

AN

BERNEY

RDMELROSE

CL 

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
  
 A

V
E

O
N

B
R

ID
G

E

T
ID

E
W

A
Y

G
D

N
S

RO

MAURICE

RD

ROAD

R
IN

G
W

O
O

D
  

  
  
  
R

D

AVENUE

C
L

DRYSDALE MEWS
PITCAIRN MEWS

D
U

N
N

MOUNTBATTEN SQ

SAUNDERS MEWS

LLIDAY

DUNBAR

OLD
CANAL

H
E

S
T

E
R

R
D

T
R

A
N

M
E

R
E

R
D

  

P
E

R
T

H

R
D

G
U

R
N

E
Y

R
D

GLASGOW          RD

KINGSLEY

T
B

E
R

T
IE

 R
D

M
A

Y
L
E

S

R
O

S
E

T
T

A
 R

D

BIL
LI

N
G

C
L

CARPENTER
CL

R
D

M
IN

S
T

E
A

D
  

 R
D

BRANSBURY

ROAD

F
O

R
D

IN
G

B
R

ID
G

E
  
R

D

CADNAM      
      

 RD

GRITANWOOD RD

ROAD

GUNNERS

CLOCKTOWER DR

TEAPOT ROW

LIDIARD

Flinders Ct

ROW

Churchill
Square

ROAD

EASTN
EY

ST

ROAD

R
O

A
D

ROAD

LO

W
A

Y

MILTON
LOCKSN

SCHOONER
WAY

SANDERLING RD

D
U

N
L

IN

C
L
O

S
E

 

W
H

IM
B

R
E

L
C

L
O

S
E

 

SOVEREIGN
CLOSE

REVENGE
CLOSE

WAY

SEAGULL
CLOSE

ATALANTA
CLOSE

A 2
030

E
A

S
T

E
R

N

ROAD

S
w

o
rd

 S
a
n
d
s

P
a
th

ROAD

S
W

O
R

D
 

S
A

N
D

S
 

R
O

A
D

LAPWING
ROAD

DR
ING

RO AD

SIS

AV

E

L

ROAD

SKYLARK
COURT

WHITLEY ROW

M
IL

LONGFIELD CL

E
BUSH ROAD

NELSON DRIVE

GLE

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

S
H
O

R
E

LACEY ROAD

S
H

O

A
Y

EAST

A
V
E

R
E

W

GODWIT

MAYFLOWER
DRIVE

WAYFARER
CLOSE

GROVE

AVENUE

NBR
CL

WAY

HEAD

THE

RIVER

OXTED
COURT

M
A

R
R

S
 W

K

IN
E

ST JAMES
PLACE

C
T

W
A

L
L
IS

D
E

A
N

 A
V

E

CEDAR GROVE

JENKINS GROVE

L
A

K
E

S
I D

E
 A

V
E

AVENUE
EBERY

ROAD
KIRPAL

A
V

E

EASTERN AVENUE

MOO

M

C
H

E
V

E
N

IN
GAVENUEA

LLARD

RD

C
u
rl
e
w

 P
a
th

Tern W
alk

RINGS

Teal
Path

P
LO

V
E
R

R
E
A
C

H

HERON C
L

R
DAVE

CL

AVE

A
V

E

B
ro

w

LANSDOWNE     AVE

G
E

O
F

F
R

E
Y

LILY       AVE

T
H

E
 C

R
E

S
T

GR

N
E

W
D

O
W

N

THE

HILLSIDE       AVE

THORNTON
CL

OAKHURST GD

R
O

A
D

GREENLEA CL
THE

re
st

REST
PATH

D
el

lc
P

a
th

LA
N
E

D
E

L

ROAD

ROAD

LC

Cliffdale Gardens
Camp Site

RD AD

O

BOUNDARY
WAY

M
E

A
D

O
W

  
  
  
 

E
D

G
E

DELL
CL

OAKLEA
CL

LO
N

D
O

N

W
ID

L
E

Y

WALK

A
R

R
A
N

 C
L K

IN

SHETLAND CL

R
O

JURA CL

TYRE

GROVE

H
O

M
E

F
IE

L
D

 R
D

KIRTON RD

IN

MANOR
WAY

Homefield
Path

W
A

V
E

R
L
E

Y
  
  

R
D

SCHOLARS'
WALK

SWORTH   CL

C
A

R
S

H
A

L
T

O
NA

V
E

N
U

E

U

RACTON AVE

AVE

D
R

A
Y

T
O

N

DYSART

RNE

S
O

U
T

H
B

O

L
O

R
D

IN
G

T
O

N
C

L
  
  
  

S
T

A
T

IO
N

O
L
D

CRES

W
E

M
B

LE
Y

   
   

G
R

O
V

E

G
R
O

VE

AVEN

D
O

V
E

R
C

O
U

R
T

CENT

U
E

A
Y

MARSH
CL

ROAD H
A

M

COURTMOUNT             GROVE

R
O

A
D

CHIDHAM RD

R
O

A
D

CRANBORNE        RD

CHALKRIDGE         RD

A
V

E

Courtmount Path

A
B

E
R

D
A

R
E

GOFTON   AVE

PANGBOURNE
AVE

C
O

U
R

T

OLD

T
R

E
G

A
R

O
N

LANGDALE
AVE

AVE

AVENUE

AVENUE

AVENUE

L
A

N
E

EAST
CT

COURT   CL

MANSVID    AVE

COURT
MEAD

Path

L
A

N
E

W
O

O
L
N

E
R

A
V

E A
V

E

BE

L
E

N
D

O
R

B
E

R

HILARY

THE
CLOSE

MULBERRY
AVE

L

R
R

Y

C
L
O

S
E

Mulberry

E
A

S
T

L
O

D
G

E
  

  
  
A

V
E

ROAD

B
E

R
N

A
R

D
  
A

V
E

B
U

R
R

IL
L

C
O

S

CRESCENT

P
IT

R
E

A
V

IE

EDGERLY
GDNS

ELGIN
RD

R
O

A
D

Highbury Path COLLEGEW
A

L
K

E
E

K

P
A

D
W

IC
K

  
A

V
E

COLVILLE

SOUTHDOWN

S
T

P
A

R
K

D
E

A
N

  
  

R
D L

IN
D

I
S

LANE

FARNE

R
O

A
D

LONSDALE

CRES

ROAD

BEACONSFIELD

ROAD

KNOWSLEYCRES

B
U

R
Y

ROSEBERY

W
ID

L
E

Y
 C

T
D

R

MU

S
A

L
IS

A 27

RKNEY

R
O

A
D

LO
N

D
O

N

G
D

N
S

R
O

AD

S
K

Y
E

 C
L

W
ID

L
E

Y

C
O

L
M

A
N

S
A

V
E

JOHNS        RD

W
A

L
B

E
R

T
O

N
A

V
E

ALBERT          RD

O
L
D

 M
A

R
K

E
T

 R
D

The Droke

ST

S
T

  
  

  
  
  

M
A

T
T

H
E

W
S

S
T

REGAL CL

HAVANT

GEORGES
ROAD

R
D

RO
AD

HAWTHORN

CHATSWORTH

HIGHBURY

R
O

A
D

R
D

Ashley Walk

R
O

A
D

WINDSOR

ROEBUCK
CL

DALA

KNOWSLEY

ROAD

R
O

A
D

SPUR

B
IL

T
O

N

ROAD

L
A

N
E

AIRSPEED

W
A

Y

A
 2

0
3
0

RD

BURRFIELDS

P
O

R
T

R
O

A
D

DUNDAS

DUNDAS

MARAZAN
RD

ROAD

D
U

N
D

A
SROAD

K
IL

N

C
L

O
S

E

C
O

N
IS

H
IG

H
G

R
O

V
E

  
  

R
O

A
D

COOPER ROAD
ALGIERS ROAD

NORTHOVER
ROAD

STANLEY AVENUE

COLEBROOK
AVENUE

SILCHESTER
ROAD

R
E

D
C

A
R

 A
V

E

OUTH RD

AVENUE

OURNE  RD

MONEYFIELD
LANE

M
A

R
T

IN
  
  
 R

D

EASTB

P
A

IG
N

T
O

N
  
  
A

V
E

MONEYFIELD

S
A

L
C

O
M

B
E

  
 A

V
E

R
O

A
D

BURRFIELDS

SEAFIELD RD

TOKIO RD

H
IG

H
G

A
T

E
  
  
 R

D

KENDAL AVE

WICK AVE

TEIGNM

S
E

A
T

O
N

 A
V

E

S
ID

M
O

U
T

H
A

V
E

AVENUE

ROAD

A
Y

L
E

N

G
L

E
N

T
H

O
R

N
E

  
  
R

D

NINIAN PARK ROADR
O

A
D

N
in

ia
n
 P

a
th

CLAYBANK
SPUR

C
L

A
Y

B
A

N
K

  
  
  
 R

D

V
E

R
N

O
N

MAYHALL RD

R
O

A
D

G
R

O
V

E

G
R

O
V

E

M
A

N
O

R
 P

A
R

K
A

V
E

COLLIS
RD

S
T

A
T

IO
N

 R
O

A
D

S
T

A
P

L
E

T
O

N
 R

D

F
O

L
K

E
S

T
O

N
ED
O

V
E

R

C
O

P
N

O
R

R
O

A
D

T

T
O

N
A

V
E

WALLINGTON RD

W
E

S
T

B
O

U
R

N
E

  
R

D

F
U

N
T

IN
G

T
O

N
  
R

D

B
O

S
H

A
M

  
 R

D

R
O

A
D

K
E

N
S

IN
G

T
O

N

ROAD

GROVE

O
R

T
H

 R
D

NEW ROAD EAST

T
E

N
N

Y
S

O
N

P
E

R
C

IV
A

L

NEW ROAD

WWHI

ROAD

ROAD

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

P
A

D
D

IN
G

T
O

N
  

R
D

COPYTHORN

URG

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

RD

GATCOMBE     AVENUE

LOCARNO    ROAD

MONCKTON

EPWORTH  RD

KES

P
A

U
L
S

G
R

O
V

E
  

R
D

F
A

R
L

IN
G

T
O

N

W
A

L
L
A

C
E

  
 R

D

R
O

A
D

P
R

E
S

T
O

N
  
R

D

B
E

D
H

A
M

P
T

O
N

  
R

D

L
Y

N
D

H
U

R
S

T

B
E

L
G

R
A

V
IA

  
R

D

ROAD

L
A

N
G

F
O

R
D

  
  
R

O
A

D

B
U

R
L
E

IG
H

  
  
R

O
A

D

STREET

G
L
E

N
C

O
E

  
  
  
R

D

D
A

U
L
S

T
O

N

 R
D

UCK
B

Y

A
K

E
S

L
E

Y

L
A

IE

HOLC

C
L LD

FF

O
T

T

PT

N
T

R

LAON

C
E

W
A

Y

ROAD

KEEL    CLOSE

B
IN

S
O

N
R

O
H

A
L

ORPE

WILBY LA

MAIDFORD
GR

E
A

S
T

E
R

NA
M

CR

B

ON

LA

ES

W
ALTON

ROAD

T
C

R
P

O
R

BL
DRIVE

LA

BOUGHTON CT

LA

R
O

A
D

D
AV

HOLDENBY CT

T
I

B

T
R

Y

N

E
E

Y
F

O

A 27

ROAD

CT

W
AY

L
L

H
E

C

Thornby

WEL

Y
A
R

L RD

D
LEY

O
N

R
DL
A

D
R

R E

ADSTONE LA

COTBU

E
V
E

X
L

LA

DR

CL

Ct

W
SY

HA

CRES

RT

M
A

R
S

TO
N LA

ELL

Q
U

A
R

T
R

E
M

A
IN

E

ROAD

N
E

V
IL

L
E

 S
H

U
T

E

PLACE

MIT

P
A

IN
T

E
R

C
L
  

PLUMPTONGDNS

BARTON GR

S
E
R

V
IC

E

E

W
IL

LI
A
M

S

AIRPORT

C
L

SUT

ANCHORAGE

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

BOLDE

CL

ALCHORNE

F
IE

L
D

ROAD

S
E

R
V

IC
E

R
O

A
D

S
P

U
R

ORTH

SHARPSCL

C
O
R
BY

LATIMER CT

TO
N

ROAD

SPARROWHAWK 
CL

A
IR

P
O

R
T

G
U

N
S

T
O

R
E

R
D

KINGFISHER
CT

LIMBERLINE            ROAD

R

WOODPECKER
WAY

L
IM

B
E

R
L
IN

E

HEATHCOTE RD

GREEN
D

E
V

O
N

  
  
 R

D

ROAD

GROVE

LANE

LOVETT

WESLEY

AVENUE

HOBBY
CL

NORWAY

MER

K
E

S
T

E

RD

D
R

L

S

CARRONADE
WALK

CL

BRE
CL 

G
R

E
E

N
 F

A
R

M
G

A
R

D
E

N
S

MARK
CL

B

ECH

E
N

AMH
DR

F
A

R
M

IN L

ROAD

A
C

K
W

ID
E

G
D

N
S

CRES

R
O

A
D

SCOTT

ROAD

FEL

PERONNECL

DOMUM   RD

ST SWITHUNS

RD

ROAD

R
O

A
D

ALLCOT

R
O

A
D

D
A

R
T

M
O

U
T

HWINTON   RD

ROAD

AVENUE

ROAD

York Terrace

L
O

N
D

O
N

S
T

B
A

R
B

A
R

A

NS

LARKHILL
ROAD

H
O

N

R
O

A
D

E
Y

W
O

O
D

C
L

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

W
IN

D
E

R
M

E
R

E

ROAD

ROAD

EGANCL

THORNCLIFFE
CL

THE

PADBURY
CL

ROAD

KEARSNEY AVE

ST    CHADS

HEWETT

AVENUE

ROAD

COMPTON

THURBERN

KIRBY

WYKEHAM    RD

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

RD

AVENUE

ROAD

CHESLYN RD

S
A

L
T

E
R

N
S

ROAD

R
O

M
S

E
Y

 A
V

E

P
E

T
W

O
R

T
H

 R
D

E
A

S
T

E
R

N

M
Y

R
T

L
E

 G
R

O
V

E

M
A

R
I N

A
 G

R
O

V
E

BLENDWORTH RD

A
V
O

C
E
T
 C

LO
S
E

R
O

A
D

E
U

S
T
O

N
   R

D

R
O

A
D

VELDER

W
ARREN

M
IL

T
O

N

BONCHURCH

EDGEWARE

ROAD

CHURCH VIEW

S
U

N
N

IN
G

D
A

L
E

L
IC

H
F

IE
L
D

MAYDMAN
SQUARE

STRIDE

WALSALL ROAD

B
E

A
S

A
N

T
C

L
O

S
E

W
E

L
L

S
C

L
O

S
E

W
E

S
T

O
V

E
R

  
  

  
 R

O
A

D

COBDEN

R
IP

L
E

Y

L
Y

N
T

O
N

C
H

E
S

T
E

R
F

IE
L
D

W
H

IT
E

C
L

I F
F

E
  
 A

V
E

ID
S

W
O

R
T

H
  
  
  

 R
O

A
D

TANGIER

N
E

V
I L

L
E

  
 R

O
A

D

C
H

I L
C

O
T

E
  
 R

O
A

D

R
O

A
D

A
S

C
O

T
 R

O
A

D

HAYLING

C
H

A
S

E
W

A
T

E
R

  
 A

V
E

M
IL

T
O

N

COTTON

W
A

R
B

LIN
G

T
O

N
 P

LA
C

E

JA
M

E
S

 R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

Poplar Walk

RD

M
A

Y
A

V
E

V
E

R
N

O
N

A
L
V

E
R

S
T

O
N

E
 R

D

M
IL

T
O

N

GARDENS

LIVESAY

  
  
 C

O
M

B
E

G
A

R
D

E
N

S

ROAD

Alderman
Gardens

Joseph
Court

William
Court

Richard
Court

TAMWORTH ROAD

ENT

CLAYDONAVE

P
R

IO
R

Y

CRE

A
V

E

L
A

N
D

S

SC

Milton Lane

A
N

S
O

N
  
R

O
A

D

RODNEY                     ROAD

ALLIANCE
WAY

G
U

A
R

D
IA

N
S

 C
L
O

S
E

R
D

I

ORSDEAN
AVE 

K
IM

B
O

L
T

O
N

B
A

F
F

IN
S

PRI

LANGSTONE

R
O

A
D

NORTHGATE
AVENUE

VICTOR
ROAD

R
O

A
D

S
T

  
P

IR
A

N
S

  
A

V
E

N
U

E

DUDLEY
ROAD

DOUGLAS
ROAD

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

DURBAN

ROAD

CATHERINGTON
PLACE

INVINCIBLE
WAY

THE PARKWAY

WAY

U
N

IO
N

R
O

A
D U
N

IO
N

C
L

LIME TREE
VIEW

DICKINSO
N RD

W
A

Y

F
R

A
T

T
O

N

M
ilton Lane

ILLUSTRIOUS
DRIVE

CHURCH
WAY

GUA

CU

S
A

M
U

E
L

RD

T

A
N

S

W
O

O
D

L
A

N
D

  
  
  
  

  
  
  

 S
T

M
O

O
R

L
A

N
D

 R
O

A
D

S
H

E
A

R
E

R

A
V

O
N

D
A

L
E

 R
O

A
D

BEECHAM RD

C
R

A
N

L
E

IG
H

 R
D

F
O

U
R

T
H

S
T F

IF
T

H
  
  

  
  
  

S
T

R
E

E
T

CRANLEIGH
AVE

POWER
RD

STREET

GEOR

E
R

N
E

S
T

  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
  
 R

O
A

D

S
T

E
W

A
R

T

P
L
A

C
E

HARCOURT

RD
BETTESWORTH RD

SO

E
W

A
R

T

  
 R

D

R
O

A
D

GE

U
T

H R
D

COWPER
RD

MANOR ROAD

HAMPSHIRE

ST S
H

A
K

E
S

P
E

A
R

E
  

  
 R

O
A

D

Ratey's
Lane

O
L
IN

D
A

  
  
S

T
R

E

R
O

A
D

E
T

L
O

W
E

R
 B

R
O

O
K

F
IE

L
D

 R
D

FORT
ROAD

MILTON

PARK

AVENUE

WESTON

AVENUE

POSBROOKE RD

MEON

C
R

O
M

A

C
A

T
IS

F
IE

L
D

ROAD

EASTNEY

R
O

A
D

MIDDLESEX ROAD

SUFFOLK ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

WOODMANCOTERD

R
O

A
D

AVENUE

ESSEX

C
L
O

V
E

L
LY

   
   

R
D

WIMBORNE  RD

TEDDINGTON  RD

ROAD

EASTFIELD

MAXWELL
RD

WESTFIELD

S
p
e
c
ks

 L
a
n
e

F
R

O
G

M
O

R
E

 R
D CARISBROOKE

R
U

S
K

IN
 R

D

R
O

A
D

ROAD

DEVONSHIRE

ROAD EVANS
RD

ROAD

GOLDSMITH

F
R

E
N

S
H

A
M

GRAYSHOTT

BRAMSHOTT

EMPSHOTT

HEYSHOTT

MAFEKING

R
O

A
D

ROWAN CT

R
O

A
D

A
P

S
L
E

Y
  
 R

D

TREDEGAR

ROCHESTERRD ASTON
RD

CANTERBURY
RD     

PRETORIA

HUNTER

ROAD

ROAD H
E

ID

FR
AN

C
IS

R
O

A
D

SQUARE

DEVONSHIRE

R
O

A
D

A
V

E
N

U
E

LISS

R
O

A
D

E
L
B

ROAD

A
V

E
N

U
E

F
E

R
NR

D

ROAD

ROAD

H
U

R
S

TE
R

G

AVENUE

ROAD

C
H

E
S

T
N

U
T

A
V

E

SANDRINGHAM LA

G
U

IL
D

F
O

R
D

THORNCROFT

RD

LINCOLN

MANCHESTER RD

ROAD
ROAD

B
Y

E
R

L
E

Y

R
E
N

N
Y

PROCTOR LANE

LIVERPOOL ROAD

BLENHEIM CT

PEDAM

C
L

METHUEN

LANDGUARD

REGINALD

P
R

IN
C

E

A
L
M

A
T

E
R

R

D
U

P
R

E
E

 D
R

S
P

IN
N

A
K

E
R

  
  

M
E

W
S

A
L
B

E
R

T

H
E

L
L
Y

E
R

W
A

R
D

HIGHLAND

R
O

A
D

H
IG

H
L
A

N
D

S
T

P
R

IO
R

Y
R

D

M
O

R
L
E

Y
R

D

A
D

A
IR

TOKAR

R
O

A
D

RD

G

C
U

L
V

E
R

  
R

D

C
H

IT
T

Y
R

D
M

AR

CT

IN
E

E'S

R
G

E
O

S
T

PARADE

GROVE

ESPLANADE

B
U

R
B

ID
G

E
  
  

G
R

C
O

U
S

IN
S

  
  

G
R

NETTLESTONE
RD

LINDLEY      AVE

SELSEY    AVE

B
R

A
D

IN
G

  
  
A

V
E

ROAD

OLIVER RD

C
L
E

G
G

R
D

H
A

T
F

IE
L
D

R
D

W
IN

T
E

R

R
D

R
D

COLLINS

W
A

IN
S

C
O

T
T

R
D

K
IM

B
E

R
L

E
Y

O
W

E
N

  
  

  
S

T

B
R

O
M

P
T

O
N

HIGHLAND

H
A

S
L
E

M
E

R
E

ST ANNS
RD  

W
H

IT
E

C
L
O

U
D

 P
A

R
K

S
T

 A
L
B

A
N

S
 R

D

S
T

R
O

A
D

TOWER
RDR

O
A

D

Highland
Terrace

White
Cloud Place

S
P

E
N

C
E

R
  
R

D

SALISBURY     ROAD
ELIZ

EASTERN

G
D

N
S

B
E

T
H

A

B
R

U
C

E
  
 R

D

E
X

E
T

E
R

  
 R

D

B
R

IS
T

O
L

 R
D

A
N

D
O

V
E

R
 R

D

FESTING

Dolphin Ct

PARK

S
T
 H

E
L
E

N
S

   C
L

O
LD

BR
ID

G
E

T
C

R
A

N
E

S
W

A

PARADE

A
N

E
S

W
A

T
E

R

E
R

RD

F
E

S
T

IN
G

H
E

L
E

N
A

  
  
R

D

B
A

T
H

WHEATSTONE

DELAMERE

ROAD

R
O

A
D

ROAD

F
R

A
N

C
IS ROAD

H
E

N
L
E

Y

WYNDCLIFFE
RD

NORTHCOTE

ALBERT

F
e
st

in
g

M
e
w

s

R
D

ENUE

THE LANE

A
V

DORRITA
CL

ROAD

R
O

A
DST

RONANS
AVE R

O
A

D

R
ID

IN
G

S

NEWNEY
CL

OLDGATE
GDNS

GATCOMBE     DRIVE

WHIT

W
A

Y

O
LD

 L
O

N
D
O

N

R
D

E
S

C
U

R
C

L

D
E

 L
IS

L
E

C
L

CURTIS MEAD

P
A

R
S

O

B
Y

R
O

N
 R

O
A

D

A
Y

L
E

S
B

U
R

Y
 R

O
A

D

MALTA RD

JERSEY RD

CYPRUS RD

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

K
E

N
Y

O
N

C
H

E
L
M

S
F

O
R

D

C
R

O
F

T
O

N

R
A

N
D

O
L
P

H

STUBBINGTON

WYKEHAM AVE

F
E

A
R

O
N

  
 R

D

C
O

P
N

O
R

WYMERING

L
Y

N
N

 R
O

A
D

C
A

R
N

A
R

V
O

N
 R

D

ROAD

WYLLIE  RD

MADEIRA

R
O

A
D

MERRIVALE

TEMPLETON
CL

TORRINGTON

R
O

A
D

AMBERLEY

R
O

A
D

BATTENB

RD

ECROSS

DOYLE CL

BEECHWOOD

SOUTHWOOD RD

AVENUE

ELMWOOD

W
E

S
T

W
O

O
D

C
O

N
A

N
  
 R

D

DOYLE

AVE

CENT

N
O

UTH

London Rd Access Rd

GDNS

B
A

LD
E

R
T
O

N
  
  C

L

EASTWOODRD

RD

ROAD

B
E

A
U

L
IE

U
  
 R

D

B
U

R
L
IN

G
T

O
N

  
R

D

PORTCHESTER ROAD

SA

ARRAS

MILITARY

CRES

P
A

R
A

D
E

N
O

R
T

H
W

O
O

D

RTH R
O

A
D

P
O

R
T

S
W

O
O

D
 R

D

R
O

A
D

SO
AVELA

NE

H
IL

S
E

A

H
O

R
S

E
A

MIDWAYRD

MATAPAN           RD

F
A

L
K

L
A

N
D

 R
D

PPE

IACHINO  AVE

H
O

W
A

R
D

L

OAKWOOD

S
t 
F

ra
n
ci

s 
C

t

PHOENIXSQR
O

A
D

B
R

U
N

E
L

R
D

MAGDALEN                 
         ROAD

ROAD

RD

ROAD

BRIGHAM CL

RD

O     ROAD

NORMANDY

CRES

R
O

A
D

N

HORSEA

AKER DRIVE

N
A

R
V

IK
R

D

CUNNINGHAM
AVE

D
IE

E
R

B
A

L
F

O
U

R

LABURNUM

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

B
E

R
E

S
F

O
R

D

L
O

N
D

O
N

INHURST       ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

A
V

E
N

U
E

ORIEL

N
E

L
S

O
N

A
V

E
N

U
E

WADHAM

SHADWELL

ON
MUNSTER

AVENUE

END

CONNAUGHT
RD

AVENUE

G
L
A

D
Y

S

RD

ROAD

LO
N

D
O

N

MAYFIELD

OPHIRNORTHERN

HARTLEY

VITAAlex
W

ay

ROAD

KIPLING

MEREDITH

T
E

L
F

O
R

D
R

D

M
O

N
M

O
U

T
H

  
  
  
  
R

D

DERBY

ANGERSTEIN

CROFT

H
e
a
th

fie
ld

 P
a
th

L

A
S

H
L
I N

G
  
  
  

  
  
  

  
L
A

RD

R
D

CROFT

R
O

A
D

D
  

R
D

RD

GROV

BEVIS RD NORTH

KIN

SEA

M
IL

L
S

 R
D

TON

RDE

BEVIS

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

OV

E
R

O
A

D

A
U

G
U

S
T

IN
E

EDMUND

ROAD

ROAD

P
E

P
Y

S
  
 C

L

RD

R
D

ANS

PARADE

A
LH

A
M

B
R

A
 R

D

A
D

TA
LL

S

R
D

A
S

THE OCEAN AT THE

END OF THE LANE

NETTLECOMBE AVE

GAIN'S

C
H

R
O

A
D

C
E

NORMAN

DARLINGTON  RD

INGLIS    RD

CHETWYND  RD

RD

R
O

A
D

Rostre
vor

La

C
R

A
N

E
S

W
A

T
E

R
G

A
T

E

SOUTHSEA

S
T

  
 H

E
L
E

N
S

ROAD

O
N

I
M

ROAD

B
E

M
B

R
ID

G
E

WHITWELL

GRANADA

AVEN
U
E

CRESCENT

C
R

RO
NAN'S

RD

WISBOROUGH
RD

R
O

A
D

ROAD

MOULIN AVE

O
X

F
O

R
D

H
E

W
T

E
R

 C
L

PARKSTONE LANE

WAVERLEYGR

HERBERT
RD

ONE

RD

PARKST

W
E

L

MARION
RD

B
O

U
L
T

O
N

W
IS

H
 P

L

W
O

O
D

H
A

R
O

L
D

ALLEN'S RD

L
E

O
P

O
L
D

 S
T

RD

B
E

A
T

R
IC

E
R

D

L
A

W
R

E
N GRAHAM

RD

T
R

E
V

O
R

R
D

V
I L

L

EAST

N

S
S

N
E

C

BEAUFORT RD

R
D

RO

KENILWORTH
RD

W
A
V
E
R

LE
Y

PARK

S
H

IR
L
E

Y
R

D
S

T

L
O

W
C

A
Y

Theatre
Mews

E
X

M
O

D
U

N
C

A
N

  
  
R

D

COLLIN

T RD

N
A

P
IE

R
  
  
  
 R

O
A

D

Kings
Mews

ROAD

N

R
D

U
T

H

GWOOD

R
T

S

ST   SIMONS   RD

WIMBLEDON

TA      RD

SOUTH

F
L
O

R
E

N
C

E

ESPLANADE

R
O

A
D

T
H

E
D

E
L
L

C
LA

R
E
N
D
O

N

UR

K

B
U

R
G

O
Y

N
E

  
 R

D

F

KIR

ER

AFFORDRD

WIL

A
L
B

E
R

T

A
LB

E
R

T

E
A

VICTORIA

G
O

O
D

SON          GR

C
H

E
L
S

R
O

A
D

W
O

ONSLOW RD

W
E

L
L

H
I

R
O

A
D

R
D

HAM
ILTON RD

N
D

O
N

N
G

CE
N

ITH
SM

FIELD    ROAD

ROAD

R
O
AD

R
O

A
D

G
U

IL
D

F
O

R
D

R
O

A
D

E
S

  
 R

O
A

D
H

B
E

R
T

RD

E
S

S
L
E

M
O

N
T

  
  
  
R

O
A

D

JU
B

IL
E

E
  
  
  
  
  
  
 R

O
A

D

S
U

T
H

E
R

L
A

N
D

  
  
R

O
A

D
L
O

N
D

E
S

B
O

R
O

U
G

H
  
R

O
A

D

TELEPHONE

MANNERS     LA

MANNERS

PERCY

R
O

A
D

CORNWALL

SANDRINGHAM ROAD

N
C

Y
 R

D

A
R

IE
L
 R

D

P

F
R

A
T

T
O

N

HALE
EN

R
O

A
D

PURBROOK

RD

WALMER

KINGSDOWN PL

GRENVILLE RD

ROAD

L
O

R
N

E
  
  

R
D

ADDISON

C
E

T
T

FAWCETT

V
E

N
T

N
O

R
 R

D

BRAMBLE RD

NORLAND RD

HEYWARD RD

T
A

L
B

O
T

MUREFIELD

RD 

O
N

HARD

SELBO

C
L

A
R

E
M

O
N

T

R
D

ORC

TERRACE

N
A

URNE

GOLD

JESSIE

SHANKLIN RD

R
O

A
D

Sydenham Terrace

R
O

A
D

LUCKNOWST

BERK

CL

V
IV

A
S

H
R

D

N
O

R
T

H
U

M
B

E
R

-

L
A

N
D

 R
O

A
D

CUMBERLANDROAD

ELAND    RD

V

RUGBY    RD

B
R

IT
A

N
N

IA
R

D
 N

O
R

T
H

H
A

R
R

O
W

R
D

E
T

O
N

R
D

C
L

E

W
L
A

ANST

HOLLAND RD

GR

G
R

HAVELOCK   RD

B
R

IT
A

N
N

IA
R

D

STED

LIVINGSTONE

RD

CAMPBELL

F
A

W

SON            ROAD

ROAD

VICTORIA RD N

SH

GOMER

N
O

R
T
H

ADFORD

ROAD

BR

RD

IE   RD

G

CARLIS

HIG

O
M

EG
A

S
T

IE
LDR

D

S
O

M
E

R
S

   
   

   
   

R
O

A
D

C
L
I

Fitzroy

WIMPOLE

STREET

LITTLE
COBURG ST

COBURG ST

ST

BARTHOLOMEWS

GDNS

RD

S
T

R
O

A
D

A
N

D
R

E
W

S

ROAD

ROAD

IR    RD

D
A

V
ID

S
R

D

ROAD

N
O

R
T

H
A

M

S
T

STREET

AVENUE

FRODDIRD

E
  R

D

N

ON T

L

LWR FORBURY RD

BAILEY'S

RD

BLACKFRIARS CL

R
O

A
D

ALDWELL ST

ROAD

PLAYFA

FRASER

MONT

IVY CL

GLIDDEN

CL    

RAGLAN STREET

PORT ROYAL
ST

B
R

ID
G

E
S

ID
E

   C
L

COSHAM
PARK
AVE

P
A

R
K

T
H

E
  
  
  

O
R

C
H

A
R

D

GLENLEIGH
AVE

RK

D
O

ING

MAG

GR

H
IG

H

R
O

A
D

W
O

O
T

T
O

N
  
S

T

A
3

9
7

WAYTE ST

S
T

R
E

E
T

VECTIS
WAY

N
O

R
T

H
E

R
N

FIRESTATION
CL

S
tr

e
e
t

A
L
D

R
O

K
E

S
T

H
ig

h

P
E

R
V

IN
  
R

D

R
O

A
D

HIGHBURY
WAY

TUD

T
H

E
        O

L
DTSMO

OR

UTH

SLD O
N

 R
D

ROAD

JA
S
M

O
N

D

SPUR   RD

MALLOW
CL

LISTER  RD

CURIE  RD

H
U

N
T

E
R

  R
D

IS
L

A
Y

RD

L
O

N
D

O
N

DAME

JUDITH  WAY

ROAD

ROAD

LAND

U
R

N
A

R
D

  
  
 R

D

WATER

B
R

IG
H

S
T

O
N

E
  
  
  

  
 R

D

SAND

FRESH

TOT

OWN

G

HILL

HILL

B
O

S
T

O
N

R
D

MABLETHORPE         ROAD

NIGHTINGALE

H
A

R
V

EY      ROAD
Dersingham

Cl

Holbeach
Cl

HYTHE               RD

S
IX

T
H

  
  
  
  

  
  
A

V
E

G
L
E

B
E

F
IE

L
D

G
D

N
S

T
H

IR
D

 A
V

E

ASHURST

F
IR

S
T

  
  

A
V

E

C
H

IP
S

T
E

A
D

R
D

S
E

C
O

N
D

A
V

E

ROAD

SUNDRIDGE   CL

PETERBOROUGH         RD

LAKESH ORE

C

ROAD

O
L

ROAD

R
O

A
D

E
L

L
W

PASTEUR

ASHFORD
CL

S
E

V
E

N
O

A
K

S

CAVELL  DR

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

SOUTHWICK

PORTSDOWN

MILL

W
Y

M
E

R
IN

G

HERNE
RD

Hockley

ROAD

ROAD

ROAD

WESTERHAM CL

TANKERTON
CL

F
IF

T
H

  
  
  

  
A

V
E

F
O

U
R

T
H

  
A

V
E

WHITSTABLE        RD

S
Q

U
A

R
E

CRES

D
E

A
L
  
  
  

  
R

D

ONE

CHATHAM
CL

DST
MAI

WALSINGHAMCL

SHERINGHAM RD
WAY

L
A

N
E

D   AVEO
O

HOCKLEY
CL

ROAD

PEBMARSH RD

Path

HADLEIGH
RD

ROAD

F
A

IR
F

IE
L
D

M 27

ROAD

DONA

H
E

R
N

POR

M 27

M 27

N
O

R
T

DR

CROMER
RD

COLCHESTER
RD

L
A

N
E

ROAD

ROAD

R
O

A
D

HARLESTON

MEADOWSWEET

LOWESTOFT

NORWICH
RD

HARWICH
RD

ROCHFORD

CLACTON

WHIPPINGHAM
CLOSE

MEDINA

W
IN

T
E

R
H

IL
L

R
D

G
R

E
E

N
W

HALSTEAD

WYMERING
MANOR CL

BELL   RD

O
L
D

  
 W

Y
M

E
R

IN
G

  
 L

A

LOWERFARM DR

OUSE

L
A

N
E

LA
N

E

ONH

PIGE

DRIVE

ROAD

SOUTHWICK

ROAD

ROAD

C
O

W

ROAD

W
E

S
T
E

R
N

Brighstone

Path

AM

ROAD

STANF
CL

R
S

SUDBURY

K
IN

G
 R

IC
H

A
R

D
 C

L

MALDON
RD

T
U

N
S

T
A

L
LC

R
E

S

BRAINTREE

W
A

S
H

B
R

O
O

K

C
R

E
S

R
O

A
D

S
C

DORSTONE
RD

E
N

T

N
O

R
T
H

A
R

B
O

U
R

S
P

U
R

P
A

R
R

R
D

 

W
ESTERN

LE
CR

SOU

Y

TH

RD

SERVICE

ROAD

MELLOR CL

C
R

E

RAPSON
CL

AVENUE

FITZPATRICK
CT

BR

C
R

MOORCOT 
CLOSE

OMYARD

C
L

BLAKEMERE

ROAD

WILLERSLEY

T
E

W
K

E
S

B
U

R
Y

  
C

L

D
U

PTON

L
Y

D
N

E
Y

  
C

LS
T

R
A

T
T

O
N

  
C

L

CHELTENHAM

O

E
S

NORTHARBOUR

BLACKWATER
CLOSE

B
R

Y
S

O
N

R
D

BREDENBURY

R
O

A
D

STOCKTON

CL  R
D

R
D

C
L

ROAD

KINGSLAND

DORE

KENCHESTER

CL

E
D

E
N

H
IL

L

EY

BOWLER
COURT

R
O

A
D

W
H

IT

ANDREW
CLOSE

ROAD

BOWLER
AVENUE

KINGSTON
PLACE

GOVERNORS
WALK

ROAD

BROOKFIELD

C
L
A

R
K

R
O

A
D

MARYS

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

A
D

A
M

E
S

SHEF

ALVER           ROAD

T
R

A
F

A
L
G

A
R

E
T

H
E

L
 R

D

B
A

R
N

E
S

 R
D

NEWCOME

CLIVE

P
L
A

C
E

LITTLE
GEORGE
STREET

R
O

A
D

R
O

A
D

BELMORE

CLOSE  

INVERN E

S

B
A

L

GEORGE
MEWS

CLARENDON

PL

NUT

T
IM

P
S

O
N

  
R

D

BILL
SARGENT

CRES

ELD PLACE

FI

B
uc

ki
n

M
A

Y
O

C
L
O

S
E

ROAD

L
o
n
g
s 

W
a
lk

K
IL

M
IS

T
O

N
C

L
O

S
E

ON

L
O

R
D

S
   S

T

K
IN

G
  A

L

H
a
rle

y

CROWN
ST  

W
a
lk

F
R

A
T

T
O

N

D
R

U
M

M
O

N
D

R
D

LAKE

B
R

IRE

Walk

ROAD

T
O

T
T

E
N

H
A

M

R
D

B
E

RT ST

STAMFO

F
T S
T

g
h
a
m

P
L
A

C
E

R
O

A
D

ARUNDEL STREET

GARNIER

R
O

A
D

RD
ST

ST

R
O

A
D

PERCY CHANDLER ST

ST

E
S

  
S

T

APRIL

C
L

HALE

ST N

F
O

S

W
E

H
E

W
A

T
T
S

 R
D

STM
IN

R
T

F
O

R
D

P
L
A

C
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

CRES

S
T
E

R

A
R

E
N

D
O

N
 S

T

STST

H

VIEW

NAL

F

O
O

K

WALK

SOMERS ROAD NORTH

H
O

L

H
O

L
B

R
O

O
K

T
E

R
  R

D

CHURCH

H
A

L
E

 S
T

S
O

U
T
H

CENTRAL ST

COMMON ST

U
N

IO
N

 P
L
A

C
E

CHURCH

RD

FYNING ST

BOARHUNT
CLOSE

NORTHAM
MEWS

A
G

IN
C

O
U

R
T

ROAD

L
A

N
D

 S
T

MAI

BAKER
ST

N
E

LS
O

N

ANUEL  ST

M
A

L
IN

S

ST

R
O

A
D

T

U

S'

ALL

ST

WINGFIELD

BROWNLOW
CLLOW

ER

W
INGFIELD ST

STREET
NORTHST

TURNER

LINKLATER
PATH

ROAD

Prince's
Place

VICTORIA ST

S
A
IN

T'
S
  

R
O

A
D

PRINCE'S

ON

C

PLACE

ST

B
U

R
I

N

S
TA

U
N
TO

N
 S

T

RCH

SAIN

LLISWA

A
L

L

U
R

H
A

M

BUCKINGHAM
PLACE

B
R

ID
P

O
R

T

EAST
SURREY ST

S
L
IN

D
O

N
S

T
  

ARUNDEL

S
T

T

Street

EE

SETTLERS
CLOSE

T
E

M
P

L
E

 S
T

ROAD

COMMERCIALSPICER STREET

CORNMILL
ST

R

MARKET  WAY

P
Y

E
 S

T

LAKE
PAN ST

TOBY ST

S
E

   
 S

T

BUC

E
D

E
N

 S
T

C
O

JA
C

O
B

'S
 S

T

AM

K

N
G

H
I

U
P

P
E

R
 A

R
U

N
D

E
L

S
T
     

LOWERCHURCH
PATH

LANDPORT
VIEW

BREWER
ST

C
L

A
R

E
N

C
E

 S
T

STREET

P
R

O
V

ID
E

N
C

E
M

M
E

R
C

IA
L

CASCADES

APPRO
ACH

M
A

R
K

E
T

CHA

W
AY

RLOTTE

R
O

A
D

NEW

R
O

A
D

PINK RD

QUEEN'S

WINCHESTER ROAD

POWERSCOURT

L
A

N
G

L
E

YBINSTEED ROAD

S
 R

D

TORONTO ROAD

L
IO

L

RD

CHICHESTER

KILPATRICK CLOSE

DUMBARTON CLOSE

H
A

V
A

N
T

D
R

A
Y

T
O

N

E
M

S
W

O
R

T
H

S
T

R
E

E
T

G
re

e
n

LITTLE ARTHUR ST

SEYMOUR CL

ARN

ckland Path

BUCKLAND ST

CLOSE

H
A

N
W

A
Y

Bu

DUKE

C
R

E
S

S
Y

 R
O

A
D

NORTHBROOK
CL

U

AUD

W
A

STI

CHAPEL
STREET

ING  ST

S HINGTON RD

RL

R
O

A
D

Gladstone
Pl

E
S

T
E

L
L
A

 R
D

CL

D
IC

K
E

N
S

C
L

S
T

E
E

R
F

O
R

T
H

C
L

R
O

A
D

W
a
lk

ll Lan eng Byi

S
T
 S

T
E

P
H

E
N

S
 R

D

GS

R
O

A
D

E
A

CRESCENT

H
T
H

F
IE

Lane

CLYDEBANK

LOMOND
CL

MALTHOUSE

RD

BASINKilbride Path

K
IN

G
S

T
O

NGARFIELD

HERCULES
STREET

u

Flying Bull
Cl

N
E

S

ROAD

S

S  ST

G
A

M
B

L
E

Fl

Brompton
Pass

BAYTHORN
CL

S
T

R
E

E
T

EM

C
A

IR
O

T
E

R
R

S
P

E
N

L
O

W

Ja
rn

dy
ce

SULTAN

R
O

A
D

C
E

N
T

E
N

D

STANLEY     RD

TW
Y

F

RD

P
itc

ro
ft

G
R

A
N

G
E

R
O

A
D

PIT

ST

MARKS

RD

S
TA

M
S
H

A
W

RD

RD

A
U

R

A
3

S
T

GEORGE BYNGWAY

RUDM

M
 2

75

WHARF

W
A

Y

O
R

D

SIMPSON  RD

ONS

PL
T

CAMBRAI
CLOSE

N
N

E

BAPAUME
RD   

FIRGROVE

P
E

R
O

RD

R
A

M
P

A
R

T
G

D
N

S

F
A

W
L
E

Y

R
D

ROAD

R
D

A
L
F

O
R

D
P

A
IN

S
W

IC
K

  
C

L

A
R

T
I L

L
E

R
Y

  
C

L

ABB

R
D

LUDLOW

LEDBURY

CINDERFORD CL

DORMINGTON

M
O

R
T

IM
E

R
  
  
 R

D

CRES

KEEP

Q
U

A
Y

The    Board w
al

k

R
O

A
D

C
O

M
P

A
S

S

M
 2

7

ROAD

W

St
Michaels

Ct

HEMPSTED
RD

ROAD

M
A

R
S

D
E

N
 R

D

L
a
n

e

CO

HUNTLEY
CL

H
e

m
p
s
te

d
  
  
 P

a
th

EDWARDS
CL

SEVER
N

CL

WESTBURY
CL

CLEEVE CL

TAR

A

HOLYWELL DR

VERA

W
A
YCK

CO

O
Y

S
T
E

R

PORT

W
A

Y

M
 27

LLINGTON

R
O

AD

E

SOUTHAMPTON

E
BINNACLE          WAY

R
a
c
e
c
o
u
rs

e

AY

C
L

E

NT

M

ATTL E
W

LEOMINSTER

W
IN

C
H
C
O

M
BE       R

D

R
D

L
E

T
O

N

RY

ALLAWAY

W
O

R
TH

 R
D

DAL
CL

BOURNE

R
D

IL
S

N
A

WITHINGTON
CL

COLESBOURNE

BIRDLIP RD

LS

C
A

R

MULLION CL

GELWAY

CADGWITH PL

B
R

Y
H

E
R

B
R

T
IN

T

W
AY

ISLAND

O
U
D

S
T

  

C
L

Brixw
orthC
l

GROVE

CALLAGHAN

RFLY DRIVE

C
H

A
L
K

P
IT

 R
D

CRESCENT

LIME

crossCam

C
T

A
U

ELKSTO
N
E

ST

IN

Close

ROTHWELL

CL

DELLFIELD CL O
F

F

L
E

N
N

O
X

 R
D

 S
O

U
T

H

M
A

L
V

N
C

E

R
N

R
O

A
D

E

SOMERSET  RD

ST
CATHERINE
ST

ROAD

BEACH    RD

ST V

Garden
Terrace

I

ROAD

MARMION
AVEM

e
w

s

ROAD

ROAD

R
O

A
D

Y
ve

s

R
a

ve
n
sw

o
o
d

G
a

rd
e
n

s

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
  

  
  
  
R

D

R
O

A
D

RETREAT

KET ST

S
O

U
T

H

HEREFORD
RD

CAVENDISH
RD

R
D

H
IL

L
B

O
R

O
U

G
H

C
R

E
S

  A
L
B

A
N

Y

FONTWELL
RD  

V
IC

TO
R

IA

I

CTHE

T
H

I

M
AR

M
I W

MERTON

NEL

THE
CIRCLE

M
A

P
L
E

R
D

AUCKLAND  RD         EAST

VILLIERS

T
H

E

LE

VA

LA

B
r i

a
n
 K

y
d
d

W
a

y

ROAD

ROAD B
R

A

R
IC

H
M

O
N

D
P

L
  
 

ON

ST JUDES
CL

ORMSBY
RD

G
R

O
V

E

Q
U

E
E

N
'S

G
R

CRES

WAR

M
AR

HUDSON

W
IND

CHESTERPL

FREESTONE RD

L
E

N
N

O
X

 R
D

N
  
  

CLARENDON

STANLEY      ST

STANLEY

R
D

CLARENCE

P
A

L
M

E
R

S
T

O
N

 R
O

A
D

E
Y

N
E

THE

GLOUCESTER VIEW

P
E

L
H

A
M

  
  
  
R

D

BELMONT PL
ELM

BELMONT STREET

Pelham
Road
Pass

SON

LTON PL

WILTON TERR

P
a
lm

e
rs

to
n
 R

o
a
d

S
e
rp

e
n
tin

e

ESPLANADE

CLARENCE

C
L

A
R

E

JACK
COCKERILL

WAY

PARADE

A
V

E
N

U
E

  
  
 D

E
  

  
 C

A
E

N

The                     Ladies                                       Mile

F
R

IA
R

Y

C
L

EX

E
N

S

RD

GLOUCESTER PL

WORSLEY RD

W
IL

B
E

R
F
O

R
C

E

   
R

D
Y

A
R

B
O

R
O

U
G

H
 R

D

CASTLECL

ARDS W
O

O
D

P
A

T
H

A
S

H
B

Y

KLAND RD WEST

T
L

ROAD

P
L

A
C

E

A
S

H
B

U
R

T
O

N
  
 R

D

T
O

N
B

R
ID

G
E

S
T

ROAD

P
O

R
T

L
A

N
D

  
 R

D

RNE

E
L
P

H
IN

S
T

O

SER
PEN

TIN
E

R
D

URNE PL

M
ID

B
E

D
F

O
R

D
 S

T

D
L
E

  
  

  
  
S

T
R

E
E

T

W
a

lk

Caldecote

JA
M

E
S

'S
  
  

  
  
  

  
 R

D

WELLING
ST

RADNOR
ST

DUNSMORE
CL

G
R

O
S

V
E

N
O

R
 S

T

S
H

A
F

T
E

S
B

U
R

Y
  
 R

D

Q
U

E

QUEEN'S
WAY  

N
E

 R
D

OSBO

U

CLIFTON
RD

CLIFTON
TERR

NETLEY
TERR

A

C

BUSH
EAST

R
O

AD

ST

ST

GARDEN LA

ROAD Q
U

E
E

N
'S

P
L

SS

SUSSEXPL

KENT

SUSSEXTERRS
U

GloucesterMews

S
TUNS

E
L
D

O
N

 S
T

BR

SACKVI

KING

LLE ST

C
K

S
T

WI

N
OS
O

U
T

H
S

T
 

Richmond
Terr

KINGS      ROAD
STEEL ST

CHAPEL ST

LITTLEHAMBROOK ST

ELM
ST 

G
R

T
 S

O
U

T
H

S
E

A
  
  
 S

T

EDW

BUSH
ST W

HYDE ST
YORKE        ST

G
LO

U
C

E
S

T
E

R
T
E

R
R

  

R
F
O

L
K

  
 S

T

L
A

N
D

P
O

R
T

T
E

R
R

A
C

E

LANDPORT
ST

ST
PAULS

M
E

A
D

O
W

 S
T

C
O

L
P

O
Y

S
T

W
A

L
T

H
A

M
S

T
  
  

LORD

H
A

M
P

S
H

IR
E MERIDEN

RD

L
A

N
S

D
O

W
N

E
 S

T

PARK ST

WILTSHIRE

MELBO

Walk

A
th

e
rs

to
n
e

E
A

R
L
S

D
O

N
  
S

T

V
I C

T
O

R
IA

GROVE

S
T

 P
E

T
E

R
S

G
R

GROVE

G
R

O
V

E
  

N
O

R
T
H

ST
URSULA

GR

O
U

T
R

HENDY
CL

S
T

S
O

U
T

H

AM

EY

C
L

CLAXTON
ST

STREET

C
O

T
T

A
G

E

 V
IE

W

B
LA

C

M
IL

F
O

R
D

R
D

MAXSTOKE
CLOSE

RAILWAY

CA

L
A

N
D

P
O

R
T

 S
T

S
T

 F
A

IT
H

S
 R

D

RASSWELL

T
O

N

C
H

A
R

L

SQ

CHURCH
PATH

NORTH

AUSTRALIA CL

CO CRES

A
L
E

X
A

N
D

R
A

R
D

ROAD

QUINTON CL

FORBURY
RD    

PLYMOUTH
ST

T
Y

S

PARK

EL E
Y

R
D

CHURCHILL

DENNING

MEWS

K
FR

IA
R

S

R
D

GATE

M
ILVERTON CL

MOSAICLA

SOR
LA

WATERLOO

TON

PAINS

CROSS
ST

RIVER'S ST

WORCESTER
CLOSE

R
O

AD

S
E

D
G

L

CRABBE
CT   

ST

CRES

SOM
ERS

COTTAGE

C
H

IV
E

R
S

C
L

W
IC

K

G
R
E
E
N

R
O

A
D

BROUGHAMRD

STREET

OCKENDON
CL

PEEL
PL 

DRUMMOND

GREETHAM

HYDE

CHARLES
DICKENS ST

STR D

S
T

B
R

U
N

E
L
 R

O
A

D

THE

MARY

ROSE ST

LANE

STA

DUGALD

L

E

YAPTON
ST

Arundel

R
oa

d

K
IN

G
S

W
E

L
L
 S

T

S
T

E
Y

SURR

C
IA

L

PAR
AD

I

ISAMBARD

DOROTHY
DYMOND ST

RD

R
O

S
E

u
e
e
n
's

The Q
M

a
ll

TION

WINSTON

S
P

R
IN

G
G

D
N

S

IL
D

H
A

LL
 W

A
LK

ALEC

R
O

A
D

S
P

R
IN

G
 S

T
F

O
U

N
T
A

IN
 S

T

I

S
T

A
N

H
O

EDINBURGH
WIL

C
O

M
M

E
R

RD

P

S
 R

D

ST VINCENT ST

NRY I ST

Guildhall
Square

ROAD

KING   H

A
N

G
L
E

S
E

A

EXCHANGE

RD

WHITE

KINGRICHARD I
RD      

R
O

A
D

BISHOP CRISPIAN

WAY

G
O

M
O

N
T

G
U

R
O

A
D

R
D

S
T

E

SWAN RD

R
D

M
IC

H
A

E
L
S

T
E

R
R

W
AYMERY

MEYRICK

LOWER               DERBY

EN

W
e
st

e
rn

B
U

C
K

L
E

R
S

C
T

C
A

R
D

IF
F

R
O

A
D

MONTAGUE

R
O

A
D

RD

W
A

R
S

P
IT

E
  
 C

L

S
P

IN

N

KING
EDWARDS

CRES

WALKERRD

N
O

R
T

H
  
 E

N
D

  
 G

R
O

V
E

ROAD

ROAD

A
V

E
N

U
E

R
D

ROAD

ROAD

N
O

R
TH

RD

T
W

Y
F

O

PENROSE CL

R
O

A
D

RD

W
E

Y
M

O
U

T
H

 R
D

ROAD

LOND

R
D

RANELAGH            RD

GRUNEISEN

SMEATON ST
NEWCOM

WILSON        RD

T
e
r r

a
ce

WINSTANLEY

KNOX

RCH

TE
AN GE

M
 2

7
5

M
 2

7
5

M
 2

75

CUNNINGHAM
CL

BARHAM  WAYVALIANTGDNS

R

HERBERT

ST

KETTERINGTERRACE

HAVISHAM
RD

M
IL

E
E

N
D

G
R
A
FTPROSPECTRD

R
O

A
D

MILL

LA

F
R

E
D

E
R

IC
K

S
T

A
N

D
R

E
W

B
E

L
L
 S

T

STR

R
O

A
D

P
L

H

T

ROAD
HO

PE

TIPNER
GRN

WALDEN

W
ID

L
E

Y
  
  
  
  
 R

O
A

D

H
IL

L
D

O
W

N
S

A
V

E

T
A

R
G

E
T

  
 R

D

STRODE

TIPNER

RANGE

IN

TIPNER

L
A

N
E

M
IL

E

R
O

A
D

PRINCESS
ROYAL WAY

MILITARY F
L
A

T
H

O
U

S
E

 R
O

A
D

CIRCULAR

R
O

A
D

ROAD

W
A

Y

ROAD

ISLAND VIEW
TERR

WHALE

ROAD

SHED R
D

ISLAN
D

RUDMORE
SQUARE

OAD

O

R
E

G
U

A
R

D
H

O
U

S
E

ROAD

U
N

T
B

A

R
D

T
T
E

N

M
O

C

OLD
COMMERCIAL

ROAD

EET

FITZHERBERT

ST

CHILDE

M
 2

7
5

JERVIS

SQUARE

HARBOUR

WAY

GRNSOMERVILLE
PL

TIPNER

O
S

IE
R

M
 2

7
5

CL

NORTH

BATHURST WAY

MANTLE SQUARE

FRASER RD

WARDROOM ROAD

W
E

S
T

 B
A

T
T

E
R

Y
 R

O
A

D

WHALEY ROAD

BATTERY

R
D

EVANS
CL

VICTORY
GREEN

DOMVILLES
APPROACH

DRILL

GUARD

SLATER A
PPROACH

FOUNTAIN

W
alk

ROOM

QUARTERDECK
AVE

CORNWELL
CL

E
A

S
T

E
R

N

R
O

A
D

CECIL
 P

L

COPPER ST
HAMBROOK ST

BELLEVUE
TERR

DUISBURG
 W

AY

N
IG

H
T

IN
G

A
L
E

  
 R

D
W

a
y

W
E

S
T

E
R

N
 P

A
R

A
D

E

REGENT
PL

SOUTH

DARTMOUTH
MEWS

C
A

M
B

R
ID

G
E

MUSEUM      ROAD

GOLD  ST

F
L
IN

T
  
  
  

 S
T

L
T

 S
O

U
T

H
S

E
A

 S
T

D
IA

M
O

N
D

 S
T

K
IN

G
'S

T
E

R
R

JU
B

IL
E

E
T

E
R

R

S
T

O
N

E
 S

T

SILVER
ST

O
U

N
T

VICTORIA     
AVE

SLINGSBY
CL   

GDNS

W
O

O
D

V
IL

L
E

 D
R

NICKEL ST

R
O

A
D

R
D

B
L

CHADDERTON

VICTORIA SPUR

CROXTON RD

GORDON RD

TH

POYNINGS
PLACE

A
M

 D
R

HALFPENNY
LANE

CHA

ROAD

C
A

S
T
LE

CECIL
G

R

LENNOX
ROW

P
L
A

C
E

S
T

NORTH

GATE

U
N

IC
O

R
N

ALFRED

STREET

CIRCULAR

FLEET WAY

SEA
TERR

C
LA

R
E
N
C
E

P
IE

R

LO
NG

TAIN

CLARENCE PIER ROAD

C
U
RR
O

AD

BEEHIVE
WALK

LA

South

Norm
andy

O

ST

A
S

T
L

E
Y

 S
T

S
T

SQ

P
A

U
L
S

ROAD

L
IO

N
  
  
 T

E
R

R

BECK

S
T

 J
A

LION ST

Richmond
Pl

PORTL
ST

S
'S

 S
T

M
E

ST

N
D

A

E
S

Ted Kelly
CtDavidson

Ct

R
O

A
D

B
U

R
N

A
B

Y

ST

S
T

DEAN

W
AY

G
EO

RG

Montague
Wallis Ct

Robert
Mack Ct

Sea Mill
Gdns

STREET

A
Y

L
W

A
R

D
 S

T

Frank
Judd
Ct

CUMBERLAND ST

KING WILLIAM

GEORGE ST

PRINCE

Blossom
Square

Y
O

R
K

S
T

R
E

E
T

ROAD

S
T

N
IC

H
O

LA
S S

T

STREET

PEMBROKE CL

FARTHIN
G

WYNDHAM
MEWS

PEACOCK
LA

OKE

LA

PENNY

P
E
M

B
RHIGH

A
N

C
H

O
R

L
A

N
E

IVY

LANE

S
H

O
R

T

R
O

W

M
AR

LB

G
L

O
U

C
E

S
T

E
R

R
D

R
O

U
G

H
 R

O
W

O

QUEEN

G
EO

RG
ES

RO
AD

ST

N
O

B
B
S

LA

STR
EET

O
N S

T

A'Becket C
t

St T
ho

m
as

's 
Ct

MARTELLS
CT

LIN
GT

STREET

B
IS

H
O

P
  

  
  
  
 S

T

O
W

E
 R

D

COLLEGE    ST

H
AR

D

H
A

V
A

N
T

  
  

  
S

T

M
A

R
G

E
R

Y
'S

 C
T

UNION

ST

B
E

N
E

F
IC

IA
L

 S
T

R
E

E
T

H
A

N
O

V
E

R

 S
T

p
to

n
  
R

o
w

THREE

BR

KENT

TA
IN

  S
T

SQ

TUN

I

ORGES

CL

Cean
M

arches

V
IC

T
O

R
Y

R
D

  

M
ar

lb
or

ou
gh

A
ve

S
T

M
er

ca
to

r
A
ve

SiriusAve

TogoAve

P
hi

lip
A
ve

The

W
aterfront

The     
     

Canalside

SUN

PARK

ST

Joseph
Nye Ct

C
R

O
S

S

WALK
LANE

C
O

L
L
E

G
E

BO
NFIR

E

CO
RNER

BENBOW
PL

A
D

M
IR

A
L
T

Y
 R

D

S
T

R
E

E
T

B
e
n
c
h
 A

lle
y

K
in

g
s

C
U

R
Z

O
N

 H

S
o
u
th

a
m

G
R

A
N

D

PARA

WHITE

CAPTAINS
ROW 

ST

O
Y

S
T

E
R

S
T

S
T

H
A

R
T

MAS'S

H
IG

H
B

U
R

Y

KING

CHARLES

ST

WARB

S
T

Hanover C
t

L
om

b
ard

C
tM
B

A
R

D

L
O

THO

R
D

OYSTER
MEWS

FRENCH ST

Q
U
AY

OR

G

B
U

T
C

H
E

R

S
T

ROW
NANCED

E
S

T

V
er

no
n

A
ve

C
en

tra
l

S
q

New Hampshire B'vard

SUNNY

HERTHA AYRTON WAY

CLOCK ST

ANCHOR

M
A

IN

HALF MOON STREET

N
A

V
Y

  
  
 R

D

A
L
D

R
IC

H
  
  

R
D

ROAD

FRIGATE   RD

TRIMMER'S

Lysander Court

TOWN

EAST

ROAD

G
R

A
Y

S
 C

T

G
U

N
W

H
A

R
F

A
R

M

NE

RY

ROSEMARY LA

R
O

AD
S

O
U

T
H

T
E

R
R

W
IC

K
H

A
M

S
T

COLLEGE LA

OLD STAR
PL

H
A

W
K

E

S
T

S
H

IP

L
E

O
P

A
R

D

T
H

E

S
T

R
O

A
D

NORTHERN WAY

L
IO

N
  
  
  
 R

O
A

D

W
E

S
T

E
R

N
 W

A
Y

RD

TIGER    RD

BLAKE   RD

B
O

IL
E

R
 R

O
A

D

S
H

IP
B

U
IL

D
IN

G

VICTORIA

Je
lli

co
e

PIER       
       

       
       

HEAD

The Vulcan

B
R

O
A

DW
E

S
T

ST

Jupiter Court

Neptune Court

Minerva Crescent

CT

SEAGER'S COURT

TOWER STREET

BATHING LANE

B
A

T
H

 S
Q

Spinnaker Quay

TOWER ALLEY

BATTERY ROW

STR
EET

Spice Quay

CAMBER PLACE

Feltham Row

CAMBER QUAY

SCOTT RD

SAMPSON

RD

MURRAY'S
LA

JAGO RD
ADMIRAL'S

WALK

R
O

A
D

QUEEN'S

RD

STONY

T
H

E

M
A

IN

P
A

R
A

D
E

TRINITY GRN

STREET

TRINITY  GRN

PATH

R
O

A
D

E
s
p
la

n
a
d
e

MINNITT   RD

R
D

HARBOUR

ROAD

Street

T
h
e

K
E

HEAD

N
E

PL

CARBIS

CL

BRY

L
O

C
K

  
  
 A

P
P

O
A

C
H

W
A
Y

N
E

HER

EY

D
EER

H
U
R
ST

E
R

T
O

N

W
O

N
asebyC

l

E

H
ATH

CRESCENT

C
H
ED

W
O
R
TH

Desborough

Cl

RLEY RD

R
O

A
D

Paddock Walk

W
E

S
T

 B
U

N
D

 R
D

MARINA

L
O

C
K

  
V

IE
W

ROAD

WATERSEDGE RD

PORT

W

LYN

S
E

N
N

E
N

P
L

R
O
AD

M
 27

AVENUE

FARM

BODMIN RD

R
O
AD

LEA ROAD

BraunstonC
l

R

NAUTILUS

R
O
AD

HAYLE
RD

D
R

BEACH DR

P
E

N
D

E
N

N
IS

  
  
 R

DMOUSEHOLE   RD

SH

E

ALLAWAY

THE EDGE

E
N

V
A

H
RO

PARRYNEELANDS GR

JUBILEE

ROWLAND RD

NEWBOLT

RAYMOND

CL
CL

EET

HOPKINS CL

AMPTONSOUTH
ELGAR

CL

H
A

M
IL

T
O

N
R

O
A

D

CASTLE

R
O

A
D

AVENUE

P
O

R
T

S
D

O
W

N

AVENUE

KELVIN                         GROVE

EAST

MORNINGSIDE
AVE

M
O

U
N

T
V

IE
W

A
V

E ROAD

SULLIVAN

V
IE

W
  
 R

D

YO
R
K

G
D
N
S

H
O

S
P

IT
A

L
    L

A
N

E

DE

W
ATER LANE

S
TR SI

E
S

T
A

T
E

STREET

T
R

A
D

IN
G

C
A

S
T

LE

K
E

E
P

BENHAM   GR

BEVER
STO

N

A
RIDGEWAY

CL

HILLSLEY

L

ROAD

H
ELS

TO
N

R
D

BUDE
CL

FALM
O
U
TH

LONGDEAN
CL

TINTERNCL

WINTERBOURNE RD
ROCKROSE

WAY

ROAD

BUT TE

MONDSBURY
KINGSCOTE

RD

RD

L
A

N
E

HILLSIDE      
CRES

U
R

O
 R

D

M
A

C
A

U
L
A

Y
  
A

V
E

P
A

M
E

L
A

A
V

E

M
A

S
E

F
IE

L
D

  
A

V
E

B
R

ID
G

E
S

  
  

A
V

E

W
O

R
D

S
W

O
R

T
H

  
  
  

A
V

E

T
R

COLTSMEAD

D
G

E
F

IE
L
D

  
 C

L

SHELLEY  AVE

JAMES

COLERIDGE      RD

AVENUE

CHAUCER  AVE

M 27

B
R

O

KEATS    AVE

N
I

G
R

O
V

E

DRYDEN  AVE

NG

W

C
O

N
N

A
U

G
H

T

AVENUE

S
E

CARLTON

GROVE

ROAD

M
O

N
T

R
O

S
E

A
V

E

WESTFIELD
RD

SAXON SHORE RD

RALPH RD

LITTLEFIELD

SOTHCOTT
RD

GROVE

P
O

R
T

O
B

E
L

L
O

ROAD

S
O

U
T

H
W

IC
K

  
 A

V
E

E
D

W
A

R
D

(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)(BG)

(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)(BC)BCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBCBC

BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB

BDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBDBD

BABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABA

BFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBF

MGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMGMG
MAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMAMA

MCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMCMC

MFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMFMF

MEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEMEME

MHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMHMH

MIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMIMI (NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)(NC)

JFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJF

GBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGBGB

JEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJEJE

GAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGAGA

MBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMBMB

(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)(NB)

NANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANANA

HAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHAHA
(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)(GC)

(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)(GD)

ABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABABAB

BEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBEBE

(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)(AB)

FFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFFF

FGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFGFG

FDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFDFD

FBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFBFB

FEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFEFE

FHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFHFH

FJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJFJ

MDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMDMD

KCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKCKC

JCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJCJC

LBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLBLB

KDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKDKD

LALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALALA

(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)(JG)

FCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFCFC

FAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFAFA

JBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJBJB

(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)(JH)

JAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJAJA

JDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJDJD

KBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKBKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKAKA KEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKEKE

AAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAAA

(private roads)

(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )(      )privateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivateprivate
roadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroadsroads

PORTSMOUTH RESIDENTS' PARKING ZONES

2 3

210.5

1

0 miles

0.50 kilometres Scale: A3 1:25,000  4cm = 1km   (exact scale depends on margins)
A1  1:12,500  8cm = 1km

Based or reproduced from Ordnance Survey 1:1250 Base Map with the permission of HMSO © Crown copyright reserved. Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings. Licence No. 100019671
Produced by Portsmouth City Council Highways Geographic Information Service (Tom Martin 023 9284 1313).

Old Portsmouth
Hambrook
Old Commercial Road
Fratton

extended
Landport
Portsea
Priorsdean Avenue
West Southsea
Newbolt Road
Whale Island Way
Leopold St & Beatrice Rd
Hyde Park Road
Portsea North
Park Grove
Castle Road Area
Fratton West
Garnier Street
North Southsea
Landport North
The Heights
East Cosham

extended
extended

Wymering
extended

Windsor Road
Alverstone Road

extended
Bevis Road

extended
extended

Portsmouth Road
Buckler's Court
Baffins
Rudmore Court
Coniston Avenue
Somerstown Area
Stamshaw South

extended
Park Lane Area
Twyford Avenue North
Orchard Road Area
Bramble Road Area
Kings Area

extended
Haslemere Road Area
Craneswater

extended
Festing Grove Area
Westfield Road Area

extended
Middlesex Road Area
Pembroke Park

KA
KB
FA
GA

JB
JA
NA
KC
AA
FB
MA
JC
JD
BA
KD
JE
JF
LA
FC
BB
BC

AB

BD
GB

FD

BE
FE
HA
FF
HB
LB
FG

BF
FH
MB
MC
MD

ME
MF

MG
MH

MI
KE

Start Date
1999 April
1999 September
2000 January
2001 June
2004 June
2002 January
2003 February
2003 March
2004 June
2004 September
2004 September
2005 January
2005 January
2005 April
2005 December
2006 February
2006 March
2006 March
2006 June
2006 September
2006 December
2006 December
2008 September
2009 August
2007 March
2008 September
2007 July
2007 October
2022 February
2007 October
2009 February
2012 June
2007 December
2009 February
2009 June
2011 April
2011 September
2012 February
2012 June
2014 January
2016 December
2018 November
2019 January
2019 January
2019 September
2020 August
2020 February
2020 August
2021 January
2021 January
2021 April
2021 December
2021 April
2022 October

Residents' Parking Zones

Existing zone

Areas due for formal consultation

Proposed areas for consultation 
as part of a rolling programme

Page 85



This page is intentionally left blank



Form name Integrated Impact Assessment

Reference IA548897529

Date 21/09/2023

Policy details

Request date 21/09/2023 20:14

Directorate PCC Regeneration

Service Transport, Parking

Title of policy,
service, function

Residents Parking Programme of Consultation

Type of policy,
service, function

Existing

What is the aim of
your policy, service,
function, project or
strategy?

To establish residents views on the introduction of
residents parking schemes

Has any consultation
been undertaken for
this proposal?

no

Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the
protected characteristics?

With the above in
mind and following
data analysis, who is
the policy, service,
function, project or
strategy going to
benefit or have a
detrimental effect on
and how?

All households in an area will be written to. There will be
help for anyone who has difficulty understanding or
completing the form.

Page 87



Will any of those
groups be affected in
a different way to
others because of
your policy, project,
service, function, or
strategy?

No

If you are directly or
indirectly
discriminating, how
are you going to
mitigate the negative
impact?

No

Who have you
consulted with or are
planning to consult
with and what
was/will be your
consultation
methodology?

Households will be written to but help will be available if
anyone has difficult.

How are you going to
review the policy,
service, project or
strategy, how often
and who will be
responsible?

The programme is reviewed regularly and considered by
the Cabinet Member

Crime - Will it make our city safer?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Housing - will it provide good quality homes?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?Page 88



This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation
and reduce poverty?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Energy use - will it reduce energy use?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate
against a changing climate and flooding?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more
sustainable and well-maintained?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy Page 89



Air quality - will it improve air quality?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the
whole community?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the
production of waste?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture
and heritage?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a
skilled workforce?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support
sustainable growth and regeneration?Page 90



This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Social value

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Involvement

Who was involved in
the Integrated impact
assessment?

Kevin McKee

Name of the person
completing this form

Kevin McKee

Date of completion 2023-09-21

Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
 
 

1 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

Title of meeting:  
 

Cabinet Member for Transport Decision Meeting  

Date of meeting: 
 

12th October 2023  

Subject: 
 

Speed and Casualty Reduction Measures 2023/24 

Report by: 
 
Report Author: 
 

Kerri Farnsworth, Interim Director Regeneration  
 
Stanley Palmer, Road Safety Officer  

Wards affected: 
 

Drayton and Farlington 

Key decision: 
 

No 

Full Council decision: No 
 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to confirm the locations for infrastructure 

improvements as part of the Casualty & Speed Reduction Local Transport Plan 
4 (LTP4) 2023/24 capital implementation programme. 

 
 
2. Recommendations 
 

It is recommended that the Cabinet Member for Transport:  
 
2.1 Approves the proposed spend from the Casualty & Speed Reduction 

Measures budget of £250,000 on the Lower Farlington Road/Havant Road 
junction scheme.  

 
 
3. Background 
 
3.1 The aims of the Portsmouth City Council Road Safety programme are:  
 

• To reduce the risks presented to all road users, especially those identified as 
being most vulnerable through the analysis of available data 

• To reduce the number of casualties resulting from accidents  

• To increase confidence for vulnerable users in utilising the city's infrastructure, 
encouraging sustainable and active modes 

• To support and contribute to the objectives outlined in LTP41. 

 
1 Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4) - Portsmouth City Council 

Page 93

Agenda Item 7

https://www.portsmouth.gov.uk/services/parking-roads-and-travel/travel/local-transport-plan-4-ltp4/


 

 
 
 
 

2 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

 
3.2 Analysts within the Portsmouth City Council's (PCC) Transport Service, have 

been analysing data collected from the following sources to pinpoint locations in 
the city where there is a high risk of accidents occurring or re-occurring in the 
future: 

 

• Hampshire Constabulary accident data 

• Automated 7-day speed surveys 

• Automated 7-day traffic counts 
 
3.3 Local Transport Authorities (LTAs) have a number of statutory duties under 

Section 39 of the Road Traffic Act 1988 related to road safety. This includes 
taking steps to reduce and prevent accidents, promoting road safety, and 
securing the safe movement of traffic and pedestrians. Casualty reduction can be 
achieved when an accident or problem, borne out by a treatable pattern, 
grouping, or common causation of accidents is identified. 

 
3.4 The Casualty and Speed Reduction Measures budget allocated within the LTP4 

funding 2023-24 will deliver against the statutory duties as Portsmouth's LTA as 
outlined in section 3.3 of this report.  

 
 
4.  Lower Farlington Road / Havant Road junction identification  
 
4.1  The Lower Farlington Road/Havant Road junction scheme was identified as a site 

of interest during analysis of the accident. Additionally, concerns have been 
raised by local residents and Councillors regarding the speed of traffic along 
Lower Farlington Road. The road is subject to a 20mph speed limit and a width 
restriction to prevent Heavy Goods Vehicles (HGV's) from using the road as a 
shortcut to and from the industrial area to the south. 

 
4.2 These concerns have been supported by the traffic survey data undertaken in 

September 2022, which has shown that the 85th percentile speeds recorded are 
31mph southbound and 32mph northbound. This is in excess of the prosecution 
threshold for a 20mph speed limit which is 25mph and is higher than the speeds 
recorded 3 years ago. Previous surveys undertaken have shown that HGV's are 
using the road, ignoring the restrictions that have been put in place. A review of 
the accident data has been undertaken for the 3 years between 01/01/2019 and 
31/12/2021. 

 
4.3 Casualty data can be found in appendix A of this report.  
 
4.4 There is one accident on Lower Farlington Road, involving a child, with an 

additional 2 accidents occurring at the junction with Havant Road (please refer 

Page 94



 

 
 
 
 

3 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

map 1 below). It has been requested that this site be considered, and the data 
supports this. 

 
Map 1 - accident locations  
 

 
 
 
4.5 The factors highlighted by STATS19 casualty report contributing to the recorded 

incidents include: 
 

• Failure to judge other persons path or speed 

• Failed to look properly 
 
4.6 Following initial investigation options to improve the safety of this location could 

include a number of engineered solutions such as: 
 

• additional signage with roundels 

• continuous footways 

• narrowed give way sections 

Page 95



 

 
 
 
 

4 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

• pedestrian islands 

• prefabricated speed cushions 

• build outs. 
 

4.7 If the recommendation of this report is approved, final designs will be developed 
following further site and topographical surveys. The possible identified 
improvements included in section 4.5 of this report will be reviewed and 
considered as the scheme develops. The scheme will also be subject to public 
engagement and consultation, along with further engagement with the Ward 
Councillors.  

 
4.8 Analysis of casualties at the junction and a site visit conducted by Road Safety 

Officers and Highway Engineers highlighted poor visibility for vehicles 
approaching and subsequently manoeuvring into and out of the junction. There 
are also limited crossing facilities, leading to pedestrians to follow desire lines 
across high-risk routes. 

 
 
5. Reasons for recommendations 
 
5.1 As a Local Transport Authority, PCC have an obligation to investigate road 

casualties and develop appropriate interventions under section 39 of the 1988 
Road Traffic Act. 

 
5.2 This scheme is proposed for further development due to identified speeding 

issues. It also scores highly on intervention criteria such as average speed and 
number of casualties involving vulnerable road users when investigated through 
the ongoing monitoring of speed and traffic surveys. 

 
5.3 Strategic objectives as set out in LTP4 include a focus on Delivering Cleaner Air 

and Prioritising Walking and Cycling. The scheme aims to redevelop the route, 
providing safe crossing facilities, carefully regulated speed and restrictions to 
HGVs making walking and cycling highly desirable and eliminating a source of 
NOx and PM air pollution in line with the Strategic objectives.  

 
 
6.  Integrated impact assessment 
 
6.1 A full integrated impact assessment is included with this report  
 
 
7. Legal implications 
 
7.1 The City Council's statutory duties as a local transport authority in relation to the 

taking of measures for improving road safety are identified in the body of the 

Page 96



 

 
 
 
 

5 

 
www.portsmouth.gov.uk 

report. The further development of a detailed scheme is intended to contribute to 
the fulfilment of those statutory duties. 

 
7.2         Except as in 7.1 above, there are no legal implications arising directly from the 

recommendation in this report. 
 
 
8. Director of Finance's comments 
 
8.1 The cost of the works will be funded from the Casualty and Speed Reductions 

budget. This sits in the approved Local Transport Plan 4 capital scheme, within 
the Transport capital programme approved by Full Council in February 2023.   

 
 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 
The recommendation(s) set out above were approved/ approved as amended/ deferred/ 
rejected by ……………………………… on ……………………………… 
 
 
……………………………………………… 
Signed by:  
 
 

Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 99



This page is intentionally left blank



Form name Integrated Impact Assessment

Reference IA547005459

Date 14/09/2023

Policy details

Request date 14/09/2023 14:28

Directorate PCC Regeneration

Service Transport

Title of policy,
service, function

LTP Casualty and Speed Reduction 2023-24

Type of policy,
service, function

New

What is the aim of
your policy, service,
function, project or
strategy?

• To reduce the risks presented to all road users,
especially those identified as being most vulnerable
through the analysis of available data 
• To reduce the number of casualties resulting from
accidents 
• To increase confidence for vulnerable users in utilising
the city's infrastructure, encouraging sustainable and
active modes 
• To support and contribute to the objectives outlined in
LTP4

Has any consultation
been undertaken for
this proposal?

no

Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the
protected characteristics?

With the above in
mind and following
data analysis, who is
the policy, service,
function, project or
strategy going to
benefit or have a
detrimental effect on
and how?

The project will benefit all pedestrians, those with
mobility issues, childcare responsibilities and caring
responsibilities.

Page 101



Will any of those
groups be affected in
a different way to
others because of
your policy, project,
service, function, or
strategy?

The project will have no negative impact on the
protected characteristics, and have a positive impact
providing safer routes and crossing points for vulnerable
pedestrians, wheelchair users and make the active travel
network more accessible to disabled and less mobile
users.

If you are directly or
indirectly
discriminating, how
are you going to
mitigate the negative
impact?

N/A

Who have you
consulted with or are
planning to consult
with and what
was/will be your
consultation
methodology?

We plan to consult with local businesses face to face
and consult residents under the TRO consultation
process including a letter drop.

How are you going to
review the policy,
service, project or
strategy, how often
and who will be
responsible?

STATS19 casualty reports to monitor casualties. Speed
and Traffic surveys to monitor speed and identify
number of HGVs using the road.

Crime - Will it make our city safer?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Housing - will it provide good quality homes?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?Page 102



Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

Reducing vehicle speeds and creating more crossing
facilities along the length of the proposed route will
reduce frequency and severity of casualties. Route
improvements will encourage walking for improved
physical health, and restrictions to HGVs travelling
through the area will improve air quality with relative
improved

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

STATS19 Casualty Reports, Speed and Traffic Surveys,
and city wide Air Quality Monitoring

Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation
and reduce poverty?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Energy use - will it reduce energy use?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate
against a changing climate and flooding?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Page 103



Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more
sustainable and well-maintained?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Air quality - will it improve air quality?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

The project will divert HGVs away from a residential
area, reducing the emissions of NOx and PM10 PM2 in
the immediate vicinity, 5improving local air quality for
residents.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

Observe Portsmouth wide air quality data collection and
compare to previous readings.

Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the
whole community?

Please expand on the
impact your
policy/proposal will
have, and how you
propose to mitigate
any negative
impacts?

Traffic calming measures such as buildouts and speed
cushions will lower vehicle speeds and pedestrian
islands and continuous footways will facilitate safe
movement for pedestrians and vulnerable road users
improving active travel.

How are you going to
measure/check the
impact of your
proposal?

Speed and traffic surveys and STATS19 casualty reports

Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the
production of waste?

Page 104



This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture
and heritage?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a
skilled workforce?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support
sustainable growth and regeneration?

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Social value

This section is not
applicable to my
policy

Involvement

Who was involved in
the Integrated impact
assessment?

Senior Road Safety Officer/Project manager
Page 105



Name of the person
completing this form

Stanley Palmer

Date of completion 2023-09-14

Page 106


	Agenda
	3 School Streets - Phase 1 - Trial to Permanent Measures
	School Streets - Options report appendix A
	74.910 - School Streets design boards - Bramble print ready
	74.910 - School Streets design boards - St Judes proof 3_1
	Integrated Impact assessment SS1 St Jude's and Bramble

	4 SEHRT City Centre South - design approval
	49904_2002_0100-P04-General Arrangement

	5 Parking Charges on the Seafront East of South Parade Pier
	Integrated Impact Assessment Parking Charges
	Policy details
	Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the protected characteristics?
	Crime - Will it make our city safer?
	Housing - will it provide good quality homes?
	Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?
	Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation and reduce poverty?
	Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?
	Energy use - will it reduce energy use?
	Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate against a changing climate and flooding?
	Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more sustainable and well-maintained?
	Air quality - will it improve air quality?
	Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the whole community?
	Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the production of waste?
	Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture and heritage?
	Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a skilled workforce?
	Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support sustainable growth and regeneration?
	Social value
	Involvement


	6 Residents Parking Programme of Consultation
	RPZ_Map_2023b (002)
	Integrated Impact Assessment.RPZ Consultation
	Policy details
	Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the protected characteristics?
	Crime - Will it make our city safer?
	Housing - will it provide good quality homes?
	Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?
	Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation and reduce poverty?
	Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?
	Energy use - will it reduce energy use?
	Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate against a changing climate and flooding?
	Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more sustainable and well-maintained?
	Air quality - will it improve air quality?
	Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the whole community?
	Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the production of waste?
	Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture and heritage?
	Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a skilled workforce?
	Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support sustainable growth and regeneration?
	Social value
	Involvement


	7 Speed and Casualty Reduction Measures 2023/24
	Appendix A - Lower Farlington Rd Havant Rd Junction Casualty Report
	Integrated Impact Assessment.IA547005459
	Policy details
	Equality & diversity - will it have any positive/negative impacts on the protected characteristics?
	Crime - Will it make our city safer?
	Housing - will it provide good quality homes?
	Health - will this help promote healthy, safe and independent living?
	Income deprivation and poverty - will it consider income deprivation and reduce poverty?
	Carbon emissions - will it reduce carbon emissions?
	Energy use - will it reduce energy use?
	Climate change mitigation and flooding - will it proactively mitigate against a changing climate and flooding?
	Natural environment - will it ensure public spaces are greener, more sustainable and well-maintained?
	Air quality - will it improve air quality?
	Transport - will it make transport more sustainable and safer for the whole community?
	Waste management - will it increase recycling and reduce the production of waste?
	Culture and heritage - will it promote, protect and enhance our culture and heritage?
	Employment and opportunities - will it promote the development of a skilled workforce?
	Economy - will it encourage businesses to invest in the city, support sustainable growth and regeneration?
	Social value
	Involvement



